Long Term Geochemical Evolution of the Highland Pit Lake

Final Report

Prepared for:

ExxonMobil

3225 Gallows Road Room 8B0607 Fairfax, Virginia 22037

Prepared by:

Tetra Tech

3801 Automation Way, Suite 100 Fort Collins, Colorado 80525 (970) 223-9600 Fax (970) 223-7171 Tetra Tech Project No. 180549

May 17, 2007

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0 INTRODUCTION	1				
1.1 Background	1				
1.2 Report Organization	3				
2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION	4				
2.1 Site Geology	4				
2.2 Site Hydrology	8				
2.3 Conceptual Geochemical Model	8				
3.0 MODEL INPUTS AND ASSUMPTIONS	10				
3.1 Pít Lake Limnology	10				
3.2 Water Balance	13				
3.2.1 Inflows	13				
3.2.2 Outflows	19				
3.2.3 Verification of Hydrologic Budget	20				
3.3 Chemical Balance	25				
3.3.1 Perched Aquifer	25				
3.3.2 Precipitation	25				
3.3.3 Surface Runoff	26				
3.3.4 Tailings Seepage through Backfill	26				
3.3.5 TDSS and OBSS Aquifers	26				
3.3.6 Uranium, Radium and Selenium Calibration	33				
3.3.7 Pit Lake Geochemical Processes	40				
4.0 PREDICTED LONG TERM WATER QUALITY	43				
4.1 Long-Term Estimates of TDS	43				
4.2 Long-Term Estimates of Uranium and Radium	44				
4.3 Long-Term Estimates of Selenium	46				
5.0 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS	47				
5.1 TDSS and OBSS Total Water Quality	47				
5.2 Tailings Basin Seepage through Backfill	47				
5.3 Tailings Basin Seepage in the TDSS and OBSS Aquifers	54				
5.4 Perched Aquifer Flow and Water Quality	54				
5.5 Surface Runoff Rates and Water Quality	54				
5.6 Precipitation and Evaporation Rates	55				
6.0 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	56				
7.0 REFERENCES	57				
5.4 Perched Aquifer Flow and Water Quality 54 5.5 Surface Runoff Rates and Water Quality 54 5.6 Precipitation and Evaporation Rates 55 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 56 REFERENCES 57					

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Results from July 2003 Sampling Event	12
Table 3.2 Highland Area Precipitation Areas	14
Table 3.3 Annual Surface Runoff Calculated as a Percentage of Average Annual Rainfall	16
Table 3.4 Estimates of the Volume of Groundwater Impacted by Tailings at the Highland	
Mine Site	19
Table 3.5 Annual Evaporation from Highland Mine Site Area (SMI Tech Memo, 1/8/2003)	20
Table 3.6 Highland Tailings Solution from EPRC (1982)	21
Table 3.7 Concentrations/Activities of Constituents in Highland Pit Lake Inflows	21
Table 3.8 Estimated Chemical Compositions for Surface Runoff	22
Table 3.9 Average Chemical Compositions of Groundwater from Monitoring Wells TDM	
37, 9, and 41	24
Table 3.10 Measured Concentrations of Uranium, Radium, and Selenium in Highland	
Pit Lake and Area Monitoring Wells	33
Table 5.1 Results of Sensitivity Analysis	48

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1	Location Map Showing the Highland Ore Body and Major Geographic Features in the Powder River Basin	1
Figure 2-1	Generalized Stratigraphic Column, Highland Area	5
Figure 2-2	Cross Section of Stratigraphy at the Highland Reservoir	6
Figure 2-3	Generalized Cross Section of the Highland Ore Body	7
Figure 2-4	Pit Configuration for Surface Mining at the Highland Mine Site	8
Figure 2-5	Conceptual Model of Hydrology and Geochemistry Affecting Pit Lake	
J	Chemistry and Water Level at Highland	9
Figure 3-1	Schematic Diagram of the Highland Pit Lake Dynamic Systems Model	11
Figure 3-2	Temperature, pH, and Dissolved Oxygen Profiles from Highland Pit Lake.	
5	Measured July 2003	12
Figure 3-3	Sulfate, Uranium and Radium Profiles from Highland Pit Lake, Measured	
0	July 2003	13
Figure 3-4	Rates of Hydrologic Inflows and Outflows	15
Figure 3-5	Modeled Ground Water Flows and Fitting Equations Used in DSM	
0	Modeling	17
Figure 3-6	Highland Mine Site and Monitoring Well Locations	18
Figure 3-7	Illustration of Max Flux and Flow Verification with Chloride Mass Balance	23
Figure 3-8	Verification of Hydrologic Budget using Chloride	24
Figure 3-9	Chloride vs. Sulfate Scatter Diagrams from TDSS Monitoring Wells	27
Figure 3-10	Chloride vs. Sulfate Scatter Diagrams from OBSS Monitoring Wells	28
Figure 3-11	Measured vs. Modeled TDS, Sulfate, Sodium and Chloride	
•	Concentrations in Highland Pit Lake	28
Figure 3-12	Measured vs. Modeled Calcium, Bicarbonate and Magnesium	
-	Concentrations in Highland Pit Lake	29
Figure 3-13	Chloride Concentrations Over Time in Highland Monitoring Wells	30
Figure 3-14	Tailings Seepage Mixing Curves for TDSS Well TDM 35	31
Figure 3-15	Tailings Seepage Mixing Curve for OBSS Well TDM 11	32
Figure 3-16	Aerial Extent of Tailings Basin Seepage	32
Figure 3-17	Measured vs. Modeled Radium Activities in Highland Pit Lake	34
Figure 3-18	Measured vs. Modeled Selenium Concentrations in Highland Pit Lake	34
Figure 3-19	Measured vs. Modeled Uranium Activities in Highland Pit Lake	35
Figure 3-20	Model Simulated Comparison of Uranium Mass Fluxes, 20 Years of Pure	
	Tailings Solution	37
Figure 3-21	Model Simulated Comparison of Uranium Mass Fluxes, 2 Years of Pure	
	Tailings Solution	38
Figure 3-22	Model Simulated Comparison of Selenium Mass Fluxes, OBSS	
_	Background Selenium is 0.5 mg/L	39
Figure 3-23	Model Simulated Comparison of Selenium Mass Fluxes, OBSS	
	Background Selenium is 0.45 mg/L	39
Figure 3-24	Model Simulated Comparison of Sulfate Mass Fluxes	40
Figure 4-1	Long-term TDS Predictions for Highland Pit Lake	43
Figure 4-2	Long-term Uranium Predictions for Highland Pit Lake	45
Figure 4-3	Long-term Radium Predictions for the Highland Pit Lake	45
Figure 4-4	Long-term Selenium Predictions for Highland Pit Lake	46
Figure 5-1	Sensitivity: Measured vs. Modeled Radium	51
Figure 5-2	Sensitivity: Measured vs. Modeled Uranium	52
Figure 5-3	Sensitivity: Measured vs. Modeled Selenium	53

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A:Dynamic Systems/PHREEQC Geochemical Model Results: Water ChemistryAppendix B:Dynamic Systems Model Results: Water BalanceAppendix C:Measured Water Quality: Highland Pit Lake and Groundwater Monitoring Wells
(CD)

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report summarizes the evaluation of the geochemical evolution of the Pit Lake (Pit Lake) at the Highland Mine Site (Site). The evaluation was performed by MFG, Inc. (MFG), formerly Shepherd Miller, Inc. (SMI). This report was initially prepared on behalf of ExxonMobil Corporation (ExxonMobil) by MFG. Blasland, Bouck, and Lee, Inc. (ARCADIS BBL), has incorporated third party comments from the final draft, prepared by MFG, into this version for final submittal.

1.1 Background

In the late 1960s, Humble Oil and Refinery discovered a uranium deposit in the southern Powder River Basin of Wyoming and initiated mining activities that subsequently became known as the Highland Uranium Operations (Figure 1-1). The uranium occurred as a roll-front deposit that trended roughly northwest in the area of the Highland Mine Site (Site) (Langden and Kidwell, 1973). Multiple mining techniques were employed to extract uranium ore, including surface mining from a series of four open pits, beginning in 1970 and continuing through 1984 (Water Waste and Land [WWL], 1989). Overburden and waste rock removed during stripping operations were initially stockpiled and then used to backfill previously opened pits. The final two pits (Pits 3 and 4) were not completely backfilled and, beginning in March 1984, groundwater from the surrounding aquifer was allowed to discharge into the two pits, forming the Highland Pit Lake (Pit Lake).



Figure 1-1 Location Map Showing the Highland Ore Body and Major Geographic Features in the Powder River Basin

In the early 1980s, Exxon Production and Research Company (EPRC) conducted a study to predict the hydrologic and geochemical evolution of the Pit Lake for 2,000 years into the future (EPRC, 1983). During this initial phase of predictive modeling, radium-226 (radium) and total dissolved solids (TDS) were identified as the main constituents of potential concern (COPCs). Concentrations of radium and TDS were then estimated using a computer model in order to establish long-term conditions of the chemistry of the Pit Lake (EPRC, 1983). This work was completed before the Pit Lake began filling with water and was, therefore, completely predictive in nature.

Results of water-quality measurements obtained twice per year, after the Pit Lake began filling in 1984, indicated that, in addition to TDS and radium, concentrations of natural uranium (uranium) and selenium, at times exceeded the groundwater quality standards of 5 milligrams per liter (mg/L) and 50 micrograms per liter (µg/L), respectively, listed by the Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality (WDEQ)/Water Quality Division (WQD). Subsequently, the long-term hydrological and geochemical evolution of the Pit Lake was reevaluated by Shepherd Miller, Inc. (SMI, 1998). This modeling effort used a commercially available computer program (STELLA[®]) to create a dynamic systems model (DSM) of the Pit Lake and benefited from the availability of 14 years of water-quality data, which were used for model calibration. Thus, the SMI investigation extended the EPRC modeling effort to include uranium and selenium, and refined and extended predictions of chemical conditions in the Pit Lake based on the existing water-quality record and additional field measurements. While new field data were used for model calibration over the short term, hydrogeological assumptions previously used in the EPRC modeling effort (EPRC, 1983) were also incorporated into the revised model (SMI, 1998).

In 2003, MFG, Inc. (MFG, formerly SMI), at the request of ExxonMobil Corporation (Exxon), reevaluated the long-term groundwater and Pit Lake hydrology (MFG, 2003b). Estimates of pre-mining, steady-state groundwater conditions used in the revised model differed significantly from those used in previous studies (EPRC, 1983; SMI, 1998; Carovillano, 1998). Previous hydrologic evaluations had predicted that the Pit Lake would eventually develop into a flow-through system (ERPC, 1983; Carovillano 1998; SMI, 1998). However, substantial revisions to the predicted groundwater flows indicate that the elevation of the Pit Lake will remain well below the elevation of the regional discharge area in North Fork Box Creek and its tributaries. As a result, the Pit Lake will not discharge flows to the groundwater system. These latest predictions of the local hydrology warrant a re-examination of the Pit Lake's chemical evolution.

The objective of this study was to evaluate the geochemical evolution of the Pit Lake based on the latest hydrological modeling. The latest geochemical model was created using STELLA[®] version 7.02, PHREEQC version 2.12, refined aquifer flows from MFG (2003b), and the most recent water-quality data. In addition, the DSM-produced predictions of bulk solution compositions were input to the PHREEQC geochemical model (Parkhurst and Appelo, 1999) to include the effects of geochemical reactions. In the current model, long-term predicted concentrations of radium, selenium, uranium, and the major ions that form the bulk of TDS have been addressed. Many other metals, metalloids, and radionuclides, as discussed in Section 3.3, were not modeled because the concentrations of these constituents have historically been very low or below applicable method detection limits.

1.2 Report Organization

The remaining sections of the report are organized as follows:

- Section 2: Summarizes the Site geology, hydrology, and the conceptual geochemical model.
- Section 3: Presents the model inputs and assumptions.
- Section 4: Discusses the long-term predictions of various water quality parameters from the revised model.
- Section 5: Summarizes the sensitivity analysis performed on the revised model.
- Section 6: Presents a summary of the work performed and conclusions from the revised model.

2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1 Site Geology

The Pit Lake lies within the geographic boundaries of the Powder River Basin in northeastern Wyoming (Figure 1-1). Geologic formations in the Powder River Basin are composed of a stacked sequence of sedimentary rocks that generally consist of interbedded sandstones and shales (Langden and Kidwell, 1973; EPRC, 1983). Deposits of coal and uranium are abundant in the Powder River Basin, which has a long history of mining.

The major geologic feature that defines the Powder River Basin is an asymmetrical syncline that trends approximately due north. Geologic formations on the east limb of the syncline (including the Site) dip gently to the west, toward the axis of the syncline. Thus, the geologic formations penetrated by open pit mining at the Site dip approximately west. In contrast, the topographic slope dips to the east in response to regional geologic uplift and to the evolution of the Cheyenne River drainage basin. Thus, the stratigraphic dip and the topographic gradient dip in opposite directions, resulting in groundwater flow paths that cross stratigraphic boundaries.

A generalized stratigraphic section of the major geologic formations present within the Powder River Basin at the Site is shown on Figure 2-1. The rock formations mined at the Site are found primarily in the Paleocene Fort Union Formation, which underlies the Eocene Wasatch Formation (Figure 2-1). Rock units potentially influencing the geochemical evolution and rate of filling of the Pit Lake include (Figure 2-2, from top to bottom):

- Tailings Dam Sandstone (TDSS)
- Tailings Dam Shale (TDSH)
- Ore Body Sandstone (OBSS)

Extensive uranium mineralization is found in the OBSS in three distinct layers: the upper, middle, and lower ore body sandstones (Langden and Kidwell, 1973). For the purposes of this investigation, the OBSS was treated as a single hydrogeochemical unit.

Uranium mineralization in the OBSS is closely linked to the geologic history of the sandstone formations. Sediments in the Fort Union Formation were deposited as part of a large-scale fluvial system (Houston, 1969; Langden and Kidwell, 1973). Thus, there are distinct zones within the OBSS that preferentially transport groundwater, and the highest-grade uranium mineralization occurs in these high-permeability zones as roll-front deposits. Mining at the Site focused on extracting the highest-grade uranium ore from the roll-front deposits.

SYSTEM	SERIES	FORMATION	LITHOLOGY	DESCRIPTION
				Soil and Weathered Zone
		-		Discontinuous Sandstones and Shales
	EOCENE	WASATC		Sandstone: grain size varies from medium-grained sand to gravel, most commonly medium to very coarse-grained sand; beds vary from loose friable sand to well-cemented (carbonate) sandstones. (Does not contain uranium mineralization.)
				Siltstone and Claystone (shale): color varies from olive orange to gray green but generally gray green; may contain thin interbedded sandstones and lignite beds.
	ENE			
				TAILINGS DAM SANDSTONE: same as above (Does not contain uranium mineralization in Highland area)
ЯY		N O I		TAILINGS DAM SHALE: generally gray green with thin beds of sandstone
ERTIA	ALEOC	RT UN		UPPER ORE BODY SANDSTONE: same as above. (Ore bearing unit in Highland area.)
	_			Siltstone and Claystone (shale): generally gray green.
				MIDDLE ORE BODY SANDSTONE: same as above. (Major ore bearing unit in Highland area.)
				Siltstone and Claystone (shale): generally gray green; may contain thinbedded sandstone units.
				LOWER ORE BODY SANDSTONE: same as above. (Major ore bearing unit in Highland area.)
	ļ			Siltstone and Claystone (shale): generally gray green.
				Sandstone: same as above. (Does not contain economic amounts of uranium in Highland area.)
1				Siltstone and Claystone (shale): same as above.

(From EPRCO, 1983)

Figure 2-1 Generalized Stratigraphic Column, Highland Area





Uranium roll-front deposits are formed by dynamic biogeochemical oxidation-reduction (redox) processes. Uranium (and, typically, other metals), leached from minerals in hydrologically upgradient areas by oxygenated, high-carbonate groundwater, is subsequently transported downgradient and contacts zones that are geochemically reducing. Under reducing conditions, biological and/or chemical reduction cause the precipitation of various uranium minerals and a wide variety of other metal compounds along the interface between the oxidized and reduced zones (Figure 2-3) (Harshman, 1974; DeVoto, 1978; Langmuir, 1997; Lovley et al., 1991). Selenium minerals are commonly found in roll-front deposits on the upgradient side. Radium may also occur within or in association with the uranium minerals. The roll-front is a dynamic feature that migrates over geologic time, potentially resulting in high concentrations of metal compounds at the redox boundary. These processes formed the uranium roll-front in the OBSS that was mined at the Site.



(FROM LANGDEN AND KIDWELL 1973)

Figure 2-3Generalized Cross Section of the Highland Ore Body

Open-pit mining at the Site followed the general strike of the roll-front deposit. Therefore, portions of the Pit Lake walls have exposed the roll-front to oxidizing conditions (Figure 2-4). Under oxidizing conditions, uranium, radium, and selenium may be leached from the roll-front and transported in the groundwater system to the Pit Lake. Some areas of the Pit Lake walls were covered with backfill (EPRC, 1983). However, the backfill is unlikely to prevent leaching of mineralized zones in the Pit Lake walls. Therefore, the modeling effort for the Pit Lake included inputs of uranium, radium, and selenium from the OBSS and other source areas to the Pit Lake to account for leaching processes. The other primary source area for uranium, radium, and selenium is tailings seepage through backfill.





2.2 Site Hydrology

Groundwater near the Site generally flows from west to east in the OBSS and TDSS (EPRC, 1983). The OBSS and the TDSS contain groundwater separated by the TDSH, which acts as an aquitard. De-watering of the pit during active mining created a cone of depression in the regional groundwater potentiometric surface, thus causing groundwater to flow toward the Pit Lake. Because of de-watering, the flow of groundwater into the Pit Lake during refilling has occurred first from the lowest exposure of the OBSS and later from both the OBSS and the TDSS.

Other sources of water flowing to the Pit Lake include: (1) surface runoff; (2) direct precipitation; (3) discharge from a perched aquifer, and (4) seepage from the Tailings Basin. Outflow of water from the Pit Lake is limited to evaporation under the current hydrological model. A more complete discussion of lake and groundwater hydrology can be found in previous reports (MFG, 2003b; ERPC, 1983), and details of inflow and outflow calculations used in the DSM are provided in Section 3.0

2.3 Conceptual Geochemical Model

The concentrations of chemical constituents in the Pit Lake represent the combined effects of geochemical and hydrologic processes acting in the system. Figure 2-5 shows the basic conceptual model that guided the development of the computer model used to predict the geochemical evolution of the Pit Lake. Chemical mass is added to the Pit Lake as constituent-bearing waters flow into it. Chemical mass loading for any given constituent is calculated

conservatively as the product of the flux of water into the Pit Lake times the concentration of the constituent in the water. In a complex limnological system, removal of chemical mass can occur via chemical and/or physical processes, such as adsorption and sedimentation, precipitation, or volatilization, which remove constituents from the water column. Adsorption and sedimentation processes could provide a mechanism for mass removal from the Pit Lake, but are not well characterized at this Site and, therefore, not included in the current model. A discussion of the potential significance and previous investigations into these processes is provided in Section 3.3.8.1. In contrast, as the concentration of constituents increases in the water column, due to the effect of evaporative concentration, the precipitation of various mineral phases will affect water quality in the Pit Lake. The PHREEQC geochemical model (Parkhurst and Appelo, 1999) was used to quantify the effects of mineral precipitation on predictions of future water composition in the Pit Lake.



Figure 2-5 Conceptual Model of Hydrology and Geochemistry Affecting Pit Lake Chemistry and Water Level at Highland

3.0 MODEL INPUTS AND ASSUMPTIONS

The Pit Lake is a relatively simple hydrologic system with a single water body and a limited number of hydrologic flows (Figure 3-1). In the DSM of Pit Lake, the mathematical expression for the change in Pit Lake volume with time is:

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} Q_{i}^{\text{Inflow}} - \sum_{j=1}^{m} Q_{j}^{\text{Outflow}}$$
[3-1]

where: V is the volume of water in the Pit Lake at time t

Q is the discharge rate for an inflow (i) or outflow (j) (in units of volume per unit time) n is the number of sources of inflow

m is the number of sources of outflow.

The hydrologic Pit Lake is represented as a rectangle on Figure 3-1. Inflow and outflow to the Pit Lake are symbolized as flow pipes, and arrows on the pipes indicate the direction of positive flow.

Chemical mass is stored in a geochemical reservoir in the logical model of the Pit Lake. Each of the hydrologic flows transports constituents into or out of the Pit Lake in either constant or time-varying concentrations. The model calculates a chemical mass balance for each constituent using the following mathematical expression:

$$\frac{d(C_k V)}{dt} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{k,i} Q_i^{\text{Inflow}} - \sum_{j=1}^{m} C_{k,j} Q_j^{\text{Outflow}}$$
[3-2]

where: C_kV is the mass of constituent k dissolved in the Pit Lake water

 $C_{k,i(j)}$ are the concentrations of constituent k in the source of inflow i and source of outflow j (in units of mass per unit volume).

Separate chemical mass balance equations were written for uranium, radium, selenium, and the major ions for use in predicting future concentrations of these constituents and TDS. The massbased Pit Lake for each constituent is represented as a rectangle in the stack on Figure 3-1. Equation 3-2 demonstrates that the hydrologic and chemical models are linked by the following relationship: concentration = mass/volume. The mass of any constituent in the Pit Lake is the product of the hydrologic flow and the concentration in that flow. The details of the water and chemical mass balance sub-models are discussed in Sections 3.2 and 3.3.

3.1 Pit Lake Limnology

Previous studies of the Pit Lake have assumed that it stratifies seasonally and undergoes seasonal turnover, causing complete mixing of the water column. Seasonal turnover should cause the Pit Lake to be approximately chemically homogeneous (SMI, 1998). To determine the extent of chemical homogeneity, a field study was conducted on July 29, 2003 to obtain depth profiles of temperature, pH, oxidation-reduction potential (ORP), and dissolved oxygen (DO). Measurements were made with a Hydrolab[®] multi-parameter probe. Water samples for analysis of uranium, selenium, radium, and sulfate were also collected at the surface and at a depth of 35, 65, 85, and 109 feet in the water column (Table 3.1).



Hydrology

- Hydrologic Inflows
- Surface Runoff
- Groundwater discharge from the Perched Aquifer
- · Tailings Dam sandstone and Ore Body sandstone
- · Seepage from the tailings dam through the fill



Drainage

Area

Surface

Runoff

Precipitatio

Rate

Hydrologic Outflows Evaporation Groundwater outflow (no flow)

hydrologic reservoir is represented as a rectangle labeled "Reservoir Volume". The massbased reservoir for each constituent of interest is represented as a rectangle in the stack labeled "Geochemical Mass". Inflow and outflows to the reservoir are symbolized as pipes with arrows indicating the direction of positive flow. The circles and connectors convert inputs into outputs by calculating algebraic relationships and holding constants and timevarying graphical functions.

Geochemical Inflows Chemical Precipitation Radioactive Decay (radium only)

Figure 3-1 Schematic Diagram of the Highland Pit Lake Dynamic Systems Model

Depth	рН	Cond.	Temp	(D:O.	ORP	DO%	Sulfate	Uranium		Selenium		Radium-226	
								m	mg/L		mg/L		;i/L
feet	s.u.	uS/cm	°C	mg/l	mV	Sat	mg/L	Total	Diss.	Total	Diss.	Total	Diss.
0.2	7.9	1,280	22.5	7	375	97	519	3.08	3.06	0.12	0.11	3.4	3.4
35	8.3	1,234	13.1	9.8	338	112	522	3.17	3.12	0.1	0.1	3.1	2.7
65	8.2	1,226	7.2	10.3	340	102	516	3.12	3.11	0.1	0.1	3.3	3.8
85	8.1	1,227	6.8	9.8	346	97	518	3.09	3.09	0.1	0.11	3.7	3.6
109	7.9	1,230	6.4	8.4	353	82	520	3.08	3.06	0.11	0.1	3.8	2.9

Table 3.1 Results from July 2003 Sampling Event

Notes:

°C - degrees Celsius D.O. - dissolved oxygen mV – millvolts pCi/L - picoCuries per liter Cond. – conductivity μ S/cm - microsiemens per centimeter ORP - oxygen reduction potential s.u. - standard unit

Diss. – dissolved mg/L - milligrams per liter % - percent

The temperature profile observed in July 2003 is typical of a thermally stratified lake in the summer (Wetzel, 1975). The temperature in the surface water ranged from 22 to 23 degrees Celsius (°C) in the top 20 feet of the water column (Figure 3-2). The Pit Lake displayed a broad thermocline beginning at a depth of approximately 21 feet and extending down to a depth of approximately 60 feet. At the 65 feet depth, the temperature became approximately constant, with the temperatures in the hypoliminion ranging from 6.5 to 7.25 °C. In contrast, the chemical data from the study showed that the water column as well mixed with respect to pH and concentrations of dissolved oxygen, sulfate, uranium, and radium (Table 3.1, Figures 3-2 and 3-3).







Figure 3-3 Sulfate, Uranium and Radium Profiles from Highland Pit Lake, Measured July 2003

The DSM uses a monthly time-step for its calculations. The monthly results were aggregated into yearly predictions of Pit Lake elevation and water quality. The assumption of chemical and physical homogeneity for time scales of a year or more simplifies the model by averaging seasonal variations in flows and is consistent with a lack of seasonal chemical stratification in the Pit Lake. The DSM was run for the time period from 1984, when the Pit Lake first started to fill, to 2984 for a total simulation period of 1,000 years.

3.2 Water Balance

3.2.1 Inflows

Six hydrologic flow components supply water to the Pit Lake:

- groundwater discharge from the OBSS
- direct precipitation
- discharge from a perched aquifer in the Fowler Unit (located above the TDSS and below the alluvium found just beneath the surface)
- groundwater discharge from the TDSS
- surface runoff
- seepage from the Tailings Basin

The relative magnitude of each flow component in the water balance is described below and is depicted graphically on Figure 3-4. The flows used in the DSM were those determined in the hydrogeological study (MFG, 2003b). Because the flow component has a significant effect on mass loading, the sensitivity of the Pit Lake geochemical model to the rates of certain flow components was evaluated and is discussed in Section 5.0

3.2.1.1 Precipitation

The yearly average rate of precipitation in the Pit Lake area is 12.3 inches per year (in/year), with regional variations ranging from 11 to 14 in/year (EPRC, 1983). These averages were updated in 2003 (MFG, 2003b) to include recent precipitation data from the local weather stations, resulting in an average yearly precipitation rate of 12.06 in/year (Table 3.2). A rate of 12.06 in/year was used to represent the rate of precipitation inflow for the DSM. The volume of water added to the Pit Lake from direct precipitation is equal to the precipitation rate multiplied by the surface area of the Pit Lake. Therefore, the direct precipitation component will increase as the Pit Lake fills and the surface area increases. At steady state, precipitation in the second to largest source of water to the Pit Lake providing 27% (~12 acre-ft/month) of the total inflow.

Station	Average (in/yr)	High (in/yr)	Low (in/yr)
Bill	11.8	16.41	5.16
Douglas Aviation	11.95	17.54	6.55
Glenrock 5ESE	12.43	21.85	6.4
Average	12.06		

Table 3.2 Highland Area Precipitation Areas

Notes:

From (MFG, 2003a) in/yr - inches per year



Figure 3-4 Rates of Hydrologic Inflows and Outflows

3.2.1.2 Surface Runoff

The amount of surface runoff entering the Pit Lake from precipitation events was estimated by several methods (EPRC, 1983) and is summarized in Table 3.3. The EPRO study included an evaluation of the results from each method and concludes that the average annual runoff to the Pit Lake is equal to 6% of the annual precipitation rate. In the DSM, the total volume of surface runoff is calculated as the product of the 6% runoff rate times the surface area contributing runoff to the Pit Lake. Surface runoff provides 10% of the Pit Lake's total inflow (4.3 acre-ft/month).

Source	Value	Comments
		Actual hydrograph measurements for Sage Creek near Orpha, 12 events
Craig and Rankl	0.68 in;	over 8 years, from 0.32 to 1.41 in, correlated and applied to mean Highland
(1978)	5.5%	rainfall events.
	1.10 in;	This result was verified by regrouping mean annual storm occurrences and
SCS method	8.9%	using Antecedent Moisture Condition (AMC) modifications.
USGS Office,	0.40 in;	9-10 years records: Frank Draw near Orpha, Sage Creek near Orpha,
Cheyenne	3.3%	McKenzie Draw near Casper.
	3.00 in;	Power correlation with drainage area based on 8 gages (20 years) in
	24.4% 1.63	quarter of Wyoming containing Highland. Predictions probably high near
USGS (1976)	in; 13.0%	Site due to variation in topography and small amount of data.
	0.30 in;	Based on up to 20 years of streamflow records collected specifically for
Smith (1974)	2.4%	Wyoming.

Table 3.3 Annual Surface Runoff Calculated as a Percentage of Average Annual Rainfall

Notes:

From EPRC, 1983 [as summarized in MFG, 2003b]

in - inches

[•] USGS - United States Geologic Survey

% - percent

SCS - Soil Conservation Service

3.2.1.3 Perched Aquifer Flow

A small diversion dam located to the east of the Pit Lake directs the release of surface water away from the mine area. Water retained behind the dam is thought to recharge the normally dry Fowler Unit, creating a shallow, perched aquifer in the local area of the mine (Range, 1998). Groundwater flow in the perched aquifer follows the original alluvial channel that ultimately intercepts the southwest wall of the Pit Lake. The estimated flow rate, from field observations, was set to a constant value of 74 gallons per minute (gpm) (9.95 acre-ft/month) based on information from Range (1998). The inflow rate is equal to 23% of the total inflow to the Pit Lake.

3.2.1.4 Flow through the Ore Body Sandstone

The groundwater system in the area of the Site was dewatered from 1972 through 1983 to allow mining in the open pits that now comprise the Pit Lake. Dewatering rates typically exceeded 1,000 gpm and created a major disruption to the natural groundwater flow regime. In March 1984, dewatering of the remaining two open pits (Pits 3 and 4) ceased, allowing the Pit Lake to fill as the cone of depression in the potentiometric surface of the groundwater began to recover. As a result, the predicted discharge from the OBSS initially peaked at 66 acre-ft/month during the early filling of Pit Lake then decreased to a steady-state flow of 13 acre-ft/month over time (MFG, 2003b). Groundwater inflow from the OBSS is the largest source of water to the Pit Lake. These most recent estimates of groundwater discharge from the OBSS represent significant revisions from previous estimates, in part due to refined estimates of the initial static head parameter (MFG, 2003b). For comparison, the previous estimates suggested a decrease from a high inflow rate of 38 acre-ft/month to a steady-state inflow rate of 10 acre-ft month, (SMI, 1998). The revised flows from MFG (2003b) were used to represent the rate of water inflow to the Pit Lake from the OBSS (Figure 3-5).

3.2.1.5 Flow through the Tailings Dam Sandstone

Flows from the TDSS are estimated to have decreased from a high flow of 7 acre-ft/month during the initial period of Pit Lake filling to a steady-state discharge of 4.5 acre-ft/month (MFG, 2003b) (Figure 3-4). This component of flow makes up 10% of the Pit Lake's total inflow.





3.2.1.6 Tailings Basin Seepage

The hydrogeology at the Site has also been impacted by the placement of mill tailings from 1972 to 1984 in the unnamed tributary of North Fork Box Creek known as the Tailings Dam (Figure 3-6). The deposition of the tailings slurry over time created a groundwater mound beneath the impoundment that is evident in hydrographs from wells completed in both the TDSS and the 50-Sand (MFG, 2003b).

Several researchers have estimated the volume of groundwater impacted by the tailings impoundment (Table 3.4). These estimates do not represent the gallons of pure tailings solution in the strata underlying the tailings, but do include impacted water that is a mixture of tailings solution diluted with ambient groundwater. These studies provide estimates of several different volumes, including the total liquid volume and the total drainable volume of the entire plume, as defined by the area of elevated chloride concentrations in the groundwater. The chloride plume extends from all sides of the Tailings Dam. The studies also estimate the volume of total water and drainable water in the area west of the Tailings Basin between the Tailings Basin and the backfill area referred to as the "finger area." The volume of water contained in the finger area lies in the flow path between the Tailings Dam and Pit Lake and is the most probable portion of the plume that impacts water quality in the Pit Lake.

Figure 3-6 Highland Mine Site and Monitoring Well Locations

Location	Volume (gal)	Gallons	20 year rate (gpm)	60 year rate (gpm)	Year	Source
	1.9 billion	1,900,000,000	180.7	60.2	1988	WWL 1989
Total liquid	1.7 billion	1,700,000,000	161.7	53.9	1988	Carovillano 1998
front	1 billion	1,000,000,000	95.1	31.7	1996	Carovillano 1998
	1.5 billion	1,500,000,000	142.7	47.6	1994	Carovillano 1998/Exxon 1998
Drainable	0.5 billion	500,000,000	47.6	15.9	1988	Carovillano 1998
liquid from CI	294 million	294,000,000	28	9.3	1996	Carovillano 1998
Front	400 million	400,000,000	38.1	12.7	1994	Carovillano 1998/Exxon 1994
	200 million	200,000,000	19	6.3	1988	WWL 1989
Contaminated	280 million	280,000,000	26.6	8.9	1988	Carovillano 1998
the finger	132 million	132,000,000	12.6	4.2	1996	Carovillano 1998
area	140 million	140,000,000	13.3	4.4	1994	Carovillano 1998/Exxon 1994
Drainable	80 million	80,000,000	7.6	2.5	1988	Carovillano 1998
liquid from	39 million	39,000,000	3.7	1.2	1996	Carovillano 1998
Finger	40 million	40.000.000	3.8	1.3	1994	Carovillano 1998/Exxon 1994

Table 3.4 Estimates of the Volume of Groundwater Impacted by Tailings at the HighlandMine Site

Notes:

CI - Chloride gal - gallons gal/min - gallons per minute WWL - Water, Waste, and Land

Early estimates of this groundwater mound suggested that the draindown from the tailings reached a maximum of approximately 180 gpm (34,500 cubic feet per day [ft³/day]) in 1984 as the Pit Lake initially began to fill, decreasing to 3.5 gpm (670 ft³/day) by 1992 (WWL, 1984). Recent estimates suggest that the seepage mound under the tailings will naturally disappear in 20 to 60 years, and that a portion of the seepage mound water will flow through the TDSS and OBSS aquifers to backfilled areas of the Pit Lake, eventually reaching the Pit Lake itself (WWL, 1989).

The inflow of Tailings Basin Seepage (TBS) is represented in the DSM in a conservative manner, where it is assumed that seepage from the Tailings Basin flows at a rate of 30 gpm into the Pit Lake (4.03 acre-ft/month) for 20 years (WWL, 1989).

3.2.2 Outflows

Under the revised hydrological model, the operative pathway for water removal from the Pit Lake is through evaporation. The relative magnitude of this flow component of the water balance is described below and is depicted graphically on Figure 3-4.

3.2.2.1 Groundwater Outflow

Groundwater outflow from the Pit Lake would theoretically flow through the OBSS and TDSS if the water level in the Pit Lake reached an elevation greater than the elevation of the discharge areas of North Fork Box Creek. Previous hydrologic modeling studies indicated that groundwater outflow would eventually occur after a period of infilling. However, the most recent investigation of the local groundwater and surface water determined that it was unlikely that the Pit Lake would discharge groundwater and become a flow-through system based on a numerical analysis of the transient hydrologic conditions expected during the period of Pit Lake infilling (MFG, 2003b). The MGF (2003b) study determined that the Pit Lake will continue to fill until the water level reaches a steady-state elevation of approximately 5,060 feet in the year 2054, when the rate of inflows becomes equal to the rate of water loss by evaporation. The elevation of 5,060 feet is well below the elevation of the regional discharge area in North Fork Box Creek. Therefore, MFG (2003b) concluded that water would not be expected to flow out of the Pit Lake to the surrounding groundwater system. Instead, the Pit Lake will be hydrologic sink, with water loss occurring only by evaporation.

3.2.2.2 Evaporation

As noted by previous modeling efforts (EPRC, 1983; SMI, 1998), the Pit Lake is located in a semi-arid climate with a high rate of evaporation. The current hydrologic model indicates that evaporation is the only mechanism for water loss from the Pit Lake. Evaporation rates for the hydrologic model of the Pit Lake were well constrained by a suite of evaporation data collected in the region. The most recent pan evaporation data for the Site was obtained from the Department of Agricultural Engineering, University of Wyoming, Laramie's Design Information for Evaporation Ponds in Wyoming, published by the Wyoming Water Research Center (University of Wyoming, 1991). Using these data and the Kohler-Nordenson-Fox equation with a coefficient of 0.7, MFG (2003b) calculated an annual average evaporation rate of 45.2 in/year and a range of 40.2 to 54.5 in/year (Table 3.5). EPRC (1983) estimated that the evaporation rate ranges from 30 to 60 in/year, with an average of 45 in/year. This range and average is similar to that provided by MFG (2003b). Hence, an average rate of 45 in/year was used to represent evaporation in the DSM. Evaporation, like direct precipitation, is a function of the water surface area and will increase as the Pit Lake fills. For any one time-step, the DSM represents the total volume of water loss to evaporation from the product of the evaporation rates multiplied by the surface area of the Pit Lake.

Station	Evapo	oration (inches	/year)
	Average	High	Low
Pathfinder	42.5	46.2	35.5
Whalen	47.9	54.5	40.2
Average	45.2		

Table 3.5 Annual Evaporation from Highland Mine Site Area (SMI Tech Memo, 1/8/2003)

3.2.3 Verification of Hydrologic Budget

Chloride is a common constituent in most environments and is frequently used to calibrate or verify hydrologic flows because it is transported conservatively in most groundwater systems. At the Site, chloride is a particularly useful tracer because the concentration of chloride in the tailings solution is significantly elevated as compared to the concentration in regional groundwater. For example, the average chloride concentration in tailings solution is 217.5 mg/L

(Table 3.6) compared to a range of 0.11 to 27.6 mg/L in other hydrologic sources in the area (Tables 3.7 and 3.8).

Element	Concentration (mg/L)
Calcium	584
Chloride	217.5
Magnesium	375
рН	2.4
Selenium	0.126
Sodium	262
Sulfate	7,580
	9.1
Uranium	(6,079 pCi/L)

Table 3.6 Highland Tailings Solution from EPRC (1982)

Notes: mg/L - milligrams per liter, pCi/L - picocuries per Liter

Table 3.7 Concentrations/Activities of Constituents in Highland Pit Lake Inflows

Constituent	Precipitation	Perched Aquifer	TDSS Background	OBSS Background	OBSS Well DW-47	OBSS Fitted Concentration ^a
рН			8.1	7.9	7.8	
Calcium	0.21	142	72.96	38.71	80.61	
Magnesium	0.03	40	9.64	8.36	19.46	
Sodium	0.09	55.2	113.22	104.8	122.8	
Chloride	0.11	27.6	13.3	6.55	11.41	
Sulfate	0.65	295	238.71	202.92	386.69	
Bicarbonate	0.09	355	152.96	158.2	134.46	Calculated from Calcite "K _{sp} "
Radium (pCi/L) [⊳]	0	0	0.98	0.75	0.8	17.62/0.8
Uranium (pCi/L) ^b	0	68.4	2.73	3.89	8.72	2,364/3.89
TDS℃		745	560.72	529.34	828.68	
Selenium	0	0	0.0024	0.0027	0.0035	0.5/0.0027

Notes: a - OBSS fitted concentration is provided when applicable. First value is concentration used for early OBSS a - OBSS fitted concentration is provided when applicable. First value is concentration used for early OBSS discharge. Second value is OBSS background concentration. Sodium and chloride concentrations were constant values. - Uranium and Radium Activities in pico Curies per Liter (pCi/L); all others in micrograms per Liter (mg/L).

^c - Modeled TDS was calculated from the concentrations of individual constituents; TDS provided only for reference in this table. TDS was not reported for precipitation.

Ksp - specific conductivity

OBSS - Ore Body Sandstone

TDSS - Tailings Dam Sandstone



M	easurements fro Surface Runoff	'n		Estima	ited Co	oncentr	ation//	Activitie	5		
EPRC, 1983			Species	HCO ₃	Ga	Mg	Ńa	SO4	∕ Ci∕	Se	Ú.
			Ratio**	0.06	0.08	0.08	0.05	0.65	0.05	0.001	25.8
TDS	Weighted average*	345	Pre-Revegetation	20.7	27.6	27.6	17.3	224	17.3		
	Undisturbed area	169	Post Revegetation	10.1	13.5	13.5	8.5	109.9	8.5		
Ra	Weighted average* 2.2 Pre-Revegetation		•						0.0029	56.8	
	Undisturbed area	1.3	Post Revegetation							0.0017	33.5

Table 3.8 Estimated Chemical Compositions for Surface Runoff

Notes:

*Aerially weighted average of runoff from disturbed and undisturbed areas from ERPC (1983).

**Ratio of U:Ra and Se:Ra in wells TDM 37, 38 and 39 used for estimation of uranium and selenium activity-concentration in runoff. Ratio of species: TDS in wells TDM 9 and 41 used for estimation of species concentrations in runoff

Ca - Calcium Cl - Chloride EPRC - Exxon Production and Research Company HCO₃ - Bicarbonate Mg - Magnesium

Na - Sodium Ra - Radium

Se - Selenium

SO₄ - Sulfate TDS - total dissolved solids

IDS - total diss

U - Uranium

If the hydrologic flows provided by MFG (2003b), Range (1998), and WWL (1989) are valid, then the results from a chloride mass balance (calculated using representative well concentrations and the tailings solution composition multiplied by the respective flow) should reproduce the mass of chloride observed in the Pit Lake to date, as depicted on Figure 3-7. The chloride mass balance is calculated with Equation 3-3:

Mass $Cl_{PL} = C_{PL}V_{PL} = Q_{ppt}C_{ppt} + Q_{PA}C_{PA} + Q_{TDSS}C_{TDSS} + Q_{OBSS}C_{OBSS} + Q_{SR}C_{SR} + Q_{TS}C_{TS}$ [3-3]

where:

C_{XX} = CI concentration in the Pit Lake or inflows

Q_{xx} = Inflow rates from individual sources

 V_{PL} = Volume of the Pit Lake

Subscripts:

PL = Highland Pit Lake ppt = precipitation PA = perched aquifer TDSS = Tailings Dam Sandstone OBSS = Ore Body Sandstone SR = surface runoff TS = tailings seepage





The average concentrations of chloride in the OBSS and TDSS aquifers for Equation 3-3 are listed in Table 3.7 and were determined BY averaging the available water quality data collected between 1986 and 2003 (Appendix C, Section 3.3.5). The methods for defining the concentrations of chloride in precipitation, surface runoff, and the perched aquifer listed in Tables 3.7 and 3.9 are described in Section 3.3. The chloride concentration in tailings seepage of 217.5 mg/L (Table 3.6) is from a sample collected at the mouth of the discharge tube leading to the Tailings Basin (EPRC, 1982).

Using the chloride concentrations from Tables 3.6 to 3.8 and the hydrologic flow rates described above, the mass balance calculations (with a flow rate of 30 gpm) from Tailings Basin seepage produced chloride concentrations that exceeded those described by a linear regression of measured chloride concentrations in the Pit Lake by 2 to 4 mg/L (Figure 3-8). The same calculation using a flow rate of 26 gpm for Tailings Basin seepage more closely matched the measured chloride concentrations coming within 1 to 1.5 mg/L of the concentrations (Figure 3-8). These results indicate that the inflow rate from Tailings Basin seepage to the Pit Lake is probably within the range of 26 gpm (determined from the chloride mass balance) to 30 gpm (determined from the hydrologic analyses).

	TDM 9 & TDM 41 Impacted by Tailings	TDM 37 Completed in Backfill
рН	6.7	7.5
Bicarbonate (mg/L)	359.74	80.5
Calcium (mg/L)	464.51	101.08
Chloride (mg/L)	315.7	23.16
Magnesium(mg/L)	495.52	18.21
Radium 226 (pCi/L)	1.83	7.46
Selenium (mg/L)	0.0023	0.0029
Sodium (mg/L)	299.89	92.24
Sulfate (mg/L)	3,922.36	415.24
TDS (mg/L)	5,627.07	742.56
Uranium (pCi/L)	1.01	431.92

Table 3.9 Average Chemical Compositions of Groundwater from Monitoring Wells TDM37, 9, and 41

Notes:

mg/L - milligrams per liter

pCi/L - picoCuries per liter

TDS - total dissolved solids



Figure 3-8 Verification of Hydrologic Budget using Chloride

Conversely, because the major sources of chloride other than the tailings basis seepage are well constrained by hydrologic modeling (MFG, 2003b) and abundant monitoring well data, the

quantity of chloride and flow rate of seepage from the tailings impoundment can be backcalculated for the first 20 years of the Pit Lake's history. To conduct this calculation, the sum of the masses of chloride from the OBSS, TDSS, perched aquifer, runoff, and precipitation was subtracted from the mass of chloride needed to reproduce the concentration of chloride in the Pit Lake. Chloride in the Tailings Basin seepage was set at the concentration of 217.5 mg/L, as reported by EPRC (1982) (Table 3.6), and flow rate from Tailings Basin seepage was set at 26 gpm. With these inputs, the mass-balance calculation indicates that 53% of the chloride in the Pit Lake is derived from Tailings Basin seepage.

3.3 Chemical Balance

Rates of chemical mass loading to the Pit Lake are calculated by Equation 3-2. The rates of hydrologic inflow to the Pit Lake are described above. This section describes the methods used to define the chemical compositions of the hydrologic inflows (Tables 3.7 through 3.9). The chemical compositions include concentrations of major ions (Ca, Mg, Na, K, Cl, SO₄, and HCO₃) and COPCs (U, Ra, and Se). Other dissolved solutes (Al, As, Ba, B, Cd, Cr, Co, Cu, F, Fe, Pb, Mn, Hg, Mo, Ni, Ag, Th, V, and Zn) that have been measured in the Pit Lake over time were not included in the model because the concentrations of these constituents have historically been very low and/or below the appropriate method detection limit. Measured concentrations of these constituents in the Pit Lake and monitoring wells are provided in Appendix C.

The modeling result also includes calculations of TDS concentrations for the Pit Lake. The TDS concentration is calculated from the following equation (Hem, 1985),

$$[TDS] = [Ca^{2+}] + [Mg^{2+}] + [Na^{+}] + [K^{+}] + (0.4917)^{*}[HCO_{3-}] + [Cl^{-}] + [SO_{4}^{2-}]$$
[3-4]

3.3.1 Perched Aquifer

The chemical composition of groundwater in the perched aquifer was available from a single sample reported by SMI (1998) (Table 3.7). This reported composition has a much higher bicarbonate concentration than that found in other groundwater sources or the Pit Lake. The perched aquifer intersects the wall of the Pit Lake at elevations above the water level. Thus, the water inflow from the perched aquifer is expected to run down a seep face into the Pit Lake, allowing dissolved $CO_2(g)$ to be lost as it equilibrates with the lower partial pressure of CO2(g) in the atmosphere. The perched aquifer composition was also found to be oversaturated with calcite solubility. Thus, prior to use in the DSM, the perched aquifer water composition was equilibrated with calcite solubility at the atmospheric partial pressure of $CO_2(g)$ of 10-3.5 atmospheres (atm). This equilibration resulted in a removal of 69 and 85% of calcium and bicarbonate from solution, respectively, because of the combined effects of calcite precipitation and $CO_2(g)$ degassing. The equilibrated solution composition was used as input to the DSM to represent the perched aquifer.

3.3.2 Precipitation

SMI (1998) compiled water-quality data for precipitation from the National Atmospheric Deposition Program (NADP) records for the Snowy Range Site located in south-central Wyoming (Table 3.7; Appendix D of SMI, 1998). Uranium, radium, and selenium are not reported and are assumed to be below detection limits. These data were used to represent the chemical composition of precipitation for the DSM.

3.3.3 Surface Runoff

Reclamation around the Pit Lake has resulted in a potential total surface drainage area of 840 acres composed of both mine-disturbed areas and undisturbed areas. EPRC (1983) collected surface runoff samples from both areas, but reported analytical results only for radium and TDS. The radium activity and TDS concentrations from runoff samples collected in disturbed areas averaged 4.6 picocuries per Liter (pCi/L) and 836 mg/L respectively (EPRC, 1983). For the undisturbed areas adjacent to the Pit Lake, radium averaged 1.3 pCi/L and TDS averaged 169 mg/L (Table 3.8). After weighting these activity/concentrations by the areas of each drainage, the surface-water runoff was estimated to contain 2.2 pCi/L radium and 345 mg/L TDS during the initial filling of the Pit Lake (EPRC, 1983). It was assumed that, after 20 years, re-vegetation efforts would shift these runoff concentrations toward the composition of the undisturbed drainage (Table 3.8).

In the current modeling effort, the activity of radium reported by EPRC (1983) was initially used for surface runoff. The activity of uranium and the concentration of selenium in surface runoff were calculated from the previously reported activity of radium using the ratio of uranium to radium and the ratio of selenium to radium measured in wells completed in the backfill (Tables 3.8 and 3.9).

The constituents of TDS in the surface runoff were estimated in the same manner as uranium and selenium. The water quality of the surface runoff for the disturbed drainages was assumed to be the same as runoff from backfilled areas of the Site. The concentrations of the major ions that were estimated from the ratio of each ion to TDS measured in wells completed in the backfill (Tables 3.8 and 3.9). After 20 years had elapsed in the model runs, the concentrations of all constituents were reduced to the undisturbed concentrations to account for the effects of re-vegetation at the Site.

3.3.4 Tailings Seepage through Backfill

The current hydrological model indicates that seepage from the tailings impoundment have reached the Pit Lake through backfilled areas. To determine whether uranium, selenium, and radium would be transported conservatively (like chloride), data from monitoring wells were used to represent chemical composition of the tailings solution that would actually reach the Pit Lake. Averaged chemical data from well TDM 37 are used to represent tailings seepage, because this well is completed in the backfill and has high concentrations of radionuclides compared to other wells that lie within the flow path between the Tailings Basin and the Pit Lake (Table 3.9). Chloride was represented by its concentration in pure tailings solution, as shown in Table 3.6. Using the concentration of sodium observed in well TDM 37 with other background levels of sodium resulted in an excess of predicted sodium in the Pit Lake (Table 3.9). The concentration of sodium measured at TDM 37 was reduced by 50% in order to better reproduce the measured concentrations.

3.3.5 TDSS and OBSS Aquifers

The presence of the Tailings Dam to the east of the mine pits complicates the geochemistry of groundwater entering the Pit Lake from the TDSS and OBSS. Previous assessments of Tailings Basin seepage suggest that seepage would flow toward the Pit Lake potentially affecting water quality in both the TBSS and OBSS aquifers (WWL, 1989). Water-quality results for the local groundwater come from monitoring wells in the TDSS and OBSS located on the periphery of the Pit Lake. The concentrations of chloride and sulfate have been used to distinguish wells representing background water quality from wells that have been affected by Tailings Basin seepage. The previous water-quality analysis of tailings contribution (SMI, 1998)

was updated in the current investigation to include the most recent well data. Concentration plots, as well as scatter diagrams of chloride and sulfate, indicate that wells RM1, RM2, RM3, RM4, EM 5, TDM 40, and TDM 48 have not been impacted by Tailings Basin seepage and are representative of baseline water quality in the TDSS (Figure 3-9). Other wells completed in the TDSS show evidence of mixing between background water and seepage from the Tailings Dam. Water-quality diagrams for the OBSS indicate that wells DW 18, DW 41, DW 46, DW 47, and DW 35 have not been impacted by Tailings Basin seepage and are representative of background water quality (Figure 3-10). Average concentrations for calcium, magnesium, chloride, sodium, sulfate, and bicarbonate were calculated for these two groups of background wells using the available water-quality data collected between 1986 and 2003 (Table 3.7).



Figure 3-9 Chloride vs. Sulfate Scatter Diagrams from TDSS Monitoring Wells



Figure 3-10 Chloride vs. Sulfate Scatter Diagrams from OBSS Monitoring Wells

Using the average background concentrations of calcium, magnesium, and sulfate in the OBSS inflow produced a close but slightly underestimated reproduction of measured concentrations. Increasing these constituents to the slightly higher concentrations observed in background well DW-47 for the early years of the simulation (less than 10 years) produced a closer fit to measurements (Table 3.7, Figures 3-11 and 3-12).







Figure 3-12 Measured vs. Modeled Calcium, Bicarbonate and Magnesium Concentrations in Highland Pit Lake

A chloride-mixing model was developed to evaluate the extent that tailings seepage has infiltrated the TDSS and OBSS aquifers. As noted above, chloride is used for this purpose because it is transported conservatively, and levels of chloride in tailings pore waters are elevated compared to regional groundwater. Key wells representing the end member compositions for tailings water (TDM 9 and TDM 41) and background water for the TDSS (TDM 48, RM1 and RM2) and OBSS (DW-35) were chosen from time-series plots of major ions and the scatter diagrams of chloride vs. sulfate (Figures 3-9, 3-10, 3-13). Using the same set of diagrams, well TDM 11, completed in the OBSS, and well TDM 35, completed in the TDSS, were identified as wells receiving both background and tailings water. Both wells are located in the flow path between the Tailings Dam and the Pit Lake and are used to estimate the extent and duration of Tailings Basin water seepage in the aquifers from east of the Pit Lake (Figure 3-13).



Figure 3-13 Chloride Concentrations Over Time in Highland Monitoring Wells

Using the available average annual chloride concentrations from the end member wells, the proportion of Tailings Basin water to background water between 1986 and 2003 was determined for wells TDM 11 and TDM 35 using the following equation:

$$R_{v} = \frac{V_{1}}{V_{2}} = \frac{(C_{2} - C_{m})}{(C_{m} - C_{1})}$$
[3-5]

where:

 V_1 , and C_1 are the volume of water and concentration of chloride in the Tailings Basin water

 V_2 and C_2 are the volume of background water and the concentration of chloride in the background water, respectively

C_m is the concentration of chloride in the well with a mixed composition.

Chloride mixing results for the TDSS indicate that the proportion of tailings water reporting to well TDM 35 increased from 1990 through 1999 and, from 1999 to 2002, has represented between 65 and 68% of the flow at this location. Sixty-eight percent was used as the maximum impact to Well TDM 35 (Figure 3-14), with sensitivity studies conducted at 95% (Section 5). The duration of the mixing of plume and background water was modeled at 20, 40, and 60 years in accordance with estimates for seepage duration (WWL, 1989).



Figure 3-14 Tailings Seepage Mixing Curves for TDSS Well TDM 35

Results from well TDM 11, completed in the OBSS, indicate that the contribution of tailing seepage water to the OBSS inflow from the west reached a maximum of 14% between 2000 and 2001. The contribution of tailings seepage to OBSS water quality appears to have reached a maximum, as shown by data collected in 2002 and 2003 (Figure 3-15). Future and past contamination are forecasted using the following best-fit polynomial curve of:

$$y = -3x10^{-6}(X^2) + 0.0012(X) (R^2 = 0.6239)$$
 [3-6]

where: X is time in months and y is the percentage of tailing water in well TDM 11.

The chloride-mixing model indicates the extent to which seepage has infiltrated two key wells in the aquifer but does not indicated the percentage of the larger drainage basin that is impacted with tailings water. In order to estimate the aerial extent of tailings seepage, the 1,000 mg/L TDS contour (SMI, 1998) from the Tailings Basin was intersected graphically in geographic information system (GIS) with the 5,085-foot groundwater contour surrounding the Pit Lake (Figure 3-16). An estimated 20% of the immediate basin is potentially impacted by tailings seepage. In the baseline model, chloride at a concentration of 218 mg/L (equivalent to that in pure tailings solution) is added at a rate of 30 gpm through the TBS flow. Hence, it was not necessary to add additional chloride to the background concentrations in the OBSS and TDSS for model calibration.




Figure 3-15 Tailings Seepage Mixing Curve for OBSS Well TDM 11



Figure 3-16 Aerial Extent of Tailings Basin Seepage (1000 mg/L TDS Contour Map, 1998)

3.3.6 Uranium, Radium and Selenium Calibration

Uranium, radium, and selenium activities/concentrations in Site monitoring wells are quite low compared to the concentrations measured in the Pit Lake (Table 3.10). Initial DSM simulations that used measured concentrations from the monitoring wells in the modeled groundwater inflow underestimated the concentrations of these three constituents compared to measured levels in the Pit Lake. One geochemically plausible explanation for the discrepancy between observed and modeled results is that groundwater entering the Pit Lake from the OBSS contacts oxidized portions of the roll-front deposits adjacent to the pit walls, enriching the influent groundwater with radionuclides and selenium. While historical well data from the OBSS in the vicinity of the Site (EPRC, 1983) suggest that the activities of uranium and radium were quite high in the excavated area, none of the current monitoring wells penetrate the un-mined ore body that occurs in close proximity to the Pit Lake to provide an estimate of the potential enrichment.

Table 3.10	Measured	Concentrations	of Uranium,	Radium, an	nd Selenium in	Highland Pit
		Lake and	Area Monito	oring Wells		

Location/Well ID	Comment	Radium 226 pCi/L	Selenium mg/L	Uranium pCi/L
167 <u>-</u> 169	Highland Pit Lake - All Depths	6.44	0.1224	1,940
DW 18, 35, 41, 46, 47	OBSS Background	0.75	0.0027	3.89
RM 1-4, EM-5, TDM 40, TDM 48	TDSS Background	0.98	0.0024	2.73
TDM 9 & 41	Impacted by Tailings Dam	1.83	0.0023	1.01
TDM <u>37-39</u>	Completed in Backfill	3.15	0.002	145.11

<u>Notes:</u>

mg/L - milligrams per liter OBSS - Ore Body Sandstone pCi/L - picoCuries per liter TDSS - Tailings Dam Sandstone

A second plausible source for these constituents is the tailings impoundment to the east of the Pit Lake. Previous studies and reports (EPRC, 1983; Coal and Minerals Company [Exxon], 1994) indicate that a considerable mass of these constituents was deposited into the Tailings Basin during mine operations. Because there are two very plausible potential sources for uranium, selenium, and radium that could account for the higher levels observed during the early history of the pit, both options for calibrating the DSM were considered.

3.3.6.1 Calibration to OBSS Ore Zone Leaching

To better reproduce the observed conditions in the Pit Lake, radium and selenium were calibrated against the approximately 20 years of available Pit Lake water-quality data. Historical data, which showed the higher activities for radium in the OBSS (ERPC, 1983), were used to set model influent levels for the early history of the Pit Lake. The initial activity of radium in the OBSS flow was set to the average activity reported for the lower and middle units of the OBSS (ERPC, 1983) and decreased to the measured activities observed in the previously identified OBSS background wells (Table 3.7). A comparison of predicted radium concentrations to measured data is shown in Figure 3-17. Historical measurements of selenium were not available. Thus, an initial selenium concentration of 0.6 mg/L was determined by iterative model

runs to provide the best match to early monitoring data for the Pit Lake. This initial concentration was used to represent only the first year of input to the Pit Lake. For subsequent years, the selenium concentration was reduced over time until it reached the levels reported for the OBSS background wells (Table 3.7). The resulting model predictions for selenium are compared to the observed water quality in the Pit Lake in Figure 3-18.



Figure 3-17 Measured vs. Modeled Radium Activities in Highland Pit Lake





In contrast to radium and selenium, the uranium concentrations observed in the Pit Lake are not reproducible assuming a short-term early flush of high uranium entering the pit similar to selenium. Instead, results from calibration simulations indicate that approximately 2,000 pCi/L of uranium in the OBSS inflow is needed to reproduce the uranium concentrations measured in the Pit Lake observed between 1986 and 2002. To estimate the flux of uranium from leaching in the OBSS, the mass of uranium entering the pit for the first 20 years was calculated using the modeled Pit Lake volumes and the measured uranium concentration in the Pit Lake. Subsequent simulations used the line of best fit from this calculation to specify the amount of uranium entering the pit form the OBSS:

$$y = 2x10^{11}e^{-0.006X}$$
 (R² = 0.995) [3-7]

where: X is the simulation month

Once the activity/concentration predicted by this curve approaches the background activity/concentration observed in local monitoring wells at approximately 145 years, the measured concentration from the wells is used until the end of the simulation. The resulting model predictions are compared to the observed uranium concentrations in the Pit Lake on Figure 3-19.



Figure 3-19 Measured vs. Modeled Uranium Activities in Highland Pit Lake

3.3.6.2 Evaluation of Potential Mass Contribution from the Tailings Basin

A significant mass of TDS components, radionuclides, and selenium was deposited in the Site tailings impoundment during mining operations. The amounts of several constituents (all COPCs were not reported) originally deposited in the Tailings Basin were estimated from operational data in order to constrain the maximum possible contribution of the tailings solution to the Pit Lake. In addition, a series of sensitivity simulations were constructed to evaluate the impact that seepage from the Tailings Basin could have had on the early chemical evolution of the Pit Lake.

The mass of COPCs originally deposited in the Site tailing impoundment was estimated from operational data. The Highland mill processed 10.5 million tons of material, with a resulting tailings makeup of 35% solids by weight (Exxon, 1994). These quantities indicate that 30 million tons of slurry containing 19.5 million tons of water was deposited in the Site tailings impoundment. If the entire 19.5 million tons of tailings solution entered directly into the Pit Lake, then the calculated flow rate would be 445 gpm distributed over 20 years. If the draindown period is extended over 60 years, then the resulting flow rate would be 148 gpm. These two flow rates provide approximate bounds for the expected rates of flow from the tailings impoundment to the Pit Lake.

Chloride, a conservative element that exhibits minor attenuation in most geochemical sediments, was used to refine the volume of the available tailings water that potentially entered the Pit Lake. A chloride concentration of 217.5 mg/L was determined for the tailings solution by EPRC (1982) (Table 3.6). Assuming that the chemical composition of the tailings solution was constant throughout the deposition of the impoundment, the basin would have received 3.85 x 10^6 kilograms (kg) of chloride, 1.61 x 10^5 kg of uranium, and 2.23 x 10^3 kg of selenium in the solution phase. The radium content of the tailings solution was not reported.

To reproduce the measured concentrations of chloride in the Pit Lake, 4.19×10^5 kg of chloride must be added to the lake over the first 20 years in the DSM. Assuming that the tailings impoundment contained 19.5 million tons of water with a chloride concentration of 217.5 mg/L, the impoundment contained 3.85×10^6 kg of chloride. Only 11% of the impoundment's chloride is needed to satisfy the total mass requirement of the Pit Lake. Aside from the tailings solution, the background OBSS and TDSS aquifers and the perched aquifer are other important sources of chloride based on the reported concentrations and flows (Table 3.7 and Figure 3.4).

The chloride mass-balance calculation described in Section 3.2.3 indicates that 53% of the chloride in the Pit Lake comes from the tailings solution via seepage from the Tailings Basin. During the mass balance calculations, simulated flows from the Tailings Basin of 26 to 30 gpm provided a good match for measured chloride in the Pit Lake (Figure 3-8). Therefore, a flow rate of 26 to 30 gpm of Tailings Basin seepage was applied to estimate the possible mass contribution of uranium and selenium from the tailings solution to the Pit Lake. During these simulations, it was assumed that there was no attenuation of uranium and selenium; thus, the concentrations of these constituents in the tailings solution reaching the Pit Lake are equal to those measured in the pure tailings solution. Geochemical modeling supports this assumption, indicating that greater than 95% of the uranium and selenium in the groundwater system would be present as anionic or neutral complexes; therefore, somewhat conservative behavior may be anticipated. Using flows of 26 to 30 gpm of pure tailings solution, 24 to 27% of the uranium and 10 to 11% of the selenium in the Pit Lake are likely derived from the tailings solution.

3.3.6.3 Model Simulated Comparison of Mass Fluxes

The baseline DSM simulation (as discussed in Sections 3.2 and 3.3.1 to 3.3.6.1) and additional simulations discussed in this section were developed using WWL's (1989) estimate that the worst-case seepage rate from the Tailings Dam would be 30 gpm for 20 to 60 years. This flow rate is slightly higher than the rate of 26 gpm for 20 years that was calculated using a chloride mass balance in Section 3.3.6.2 and the 26.6 gpm rate derived from Carovillano's (1998) highest estimate that the total volume of liquid contained within the finger area is 280 million gallons (Table 3.4). These volumes of seepage are considerably higher than the volume of liquid in the finger area that Carovillano (1998) and Exxon (1998) have estimated is actually mobile (Table 3.4). To examine the effects of the higher rate of 30 gpm, a set of simulations

was conducted for uranium, selenium, and sulfate to define the probable bounds for tailing seepage contributions to the Pit Lake. In these simulations, it was assumed that there is no attenuation of chemical species on the flow path between the Tailings Basin and the Pit Lake. Monitoring data for uranium, selenium, and sulfate were not available for the Pit Lake for the first 2 years of filling (1984 and 1985). Hence, the simulation results are compared to monitoring data from 1986 on.

3.3.6.3.1 Uranium

Model calculations indicate that, if tailings seepage is represented by 30 gpm for 20 years with a uranium activity of 6,078.8 pCi/L (9.1 mg/L), then a uranium activity of 1,750 pCi/L in the OBSS inflow is needed to match the available water-quality data for the Pit Lake (Figure 3-20). In this scenario, the tailings seepage provides 24% of the total influent uranium to the Pit Lake. However, data from monitoring wells completed in the tailings and backfill (e.g., TDM 37) do not support the input of uranium at an activity as high as 6,078.80 pCi/L. If the activity of uranium in the modeled tailings seepage component is reduced after 2 years from 6,078 pCi/L, present in pure tailings solution, to 432 pCi/L (0.65 mg/L), the concentration measured at well TDM 37, then an activity of 2,000 pCi/L for the OBSS inflow is needed in the OBSS inflow to match the data (Figure 3-21). In this scenario, the tailings seepage provides 4% of the total influent uranium to the Pit Lake. Each of these simulations provides a reasonably good fit to the actual Pit Lake water quality (Figures 3-20 to 3-21).



Figure 3-20 Model Simulated Comparison of Uranium Mass Fluxes, 20 Years of Pure Tailings Solution



Figure 3-21 Model Simulated Comparison of Uranium Mass Fluxes, 2 Years of Pure Tailings Solution

Because of the limited number of wells between the tailings and the Pit Lake, the limited data set for tailings solution, and the potential for preferential groundwater flow paths that may transport greater concentrations of constituents than measured in well TDM 37, the total contribution of uranium attributable to TBS is likely somewhere between 4 and 24%. However, mass balance calculations for chloride indicate that assuming a conservative transport of Cl-and a flow of 26 gpm provides a good fit for the chloride mass measured in the Pit Lake. Under the conditions present in the groundwater between the tailings and the Pit Lake (i.e., circumneutral pH and an elevated bicarbonate concentration) uranium would also be expected to be complexed with carbonate and, therefore, to be very mobile and to demonstrate conservative transport behavior. Thus, based on the geochemistry of uranium and the chloride mass balance calculations (Section 3.3.6.2), it is expected that the contribution of uranium from the tailings would be nearer to 24% than 4%.

3.3.6.3.2 Selenium

A set of model calculations with selenium similar to those for uranium described in the preceding section was also conducted. If tailings solution is represented by a flow rate of 30 gpm for 20 years with a selenium concentration of 0.126 mg/L (e.g. equivalent to pure tailings solution), then an initial pulse of 0.45 to 0.5 mg/L selenium from the OBSS is needed to match the observed water-quality data for the Pit Lake (Figures 3-22 and 3-23). In this scenario, the tailings seepage provides 10 to 11% of the total selenium mass to the pit in the first 20 years. However, groundwater data from monitoring wells completed in the tailings (wells TDM 9 and TDM 41) and the backfill (TDM 37) do not show selenium concentrations as high as those used in this calculation. Thus, in a second model calculation, the selenium concentration observed in local monitoring well TDM 37. In this case, 0.45 to 0.5 mg/L of selenium in the OBSS inflow were needed to match the observed selenium concentrations in the Pit Lake data (Figures 3-22) and 3-23). In this scenario, the tailings solution provides 1.2 to 1.7% of the total selenium to the

Pit Lake. Based on these model calculations, the percentage of selenium in the Pit Lake that originated from tailings seepage is expected to be between 1.2 and 11%.



Figure 3-22 Model Simulated Comparison of Selenium Mass Fluxes, OBSS Background Selenium is 0.5 mg/L





However, under the oxidizing, near neutral pH conditions in the local groundwater, selenium is expected to be present primarily as the oxidized selenate ion, which is transported

conservatively under these conditions. Thus, as with the uranyl ion (discussed above), it is likely that the actual amount of selenium in the Pit Lake that originated from the Tailings Basin is nearer the 11% value.

3.3.6.3.3 Sulfate

The potential contribution of sulfate from tailings solution was also conducted because sulfate is the largest component of TDS in the Pit Lake. As with uranium and selenium, no groundwater data from the tailings area were available for the first 2 years of Pit Lake filling. Hence, the modeled sulfate input for the first 2 years assumes that 30 gpm of tailings solution with a sulfate concentration of 7,580 mg/L reaches the Pit Lake. In this simulation, the DSM overestimates the concentration of sulfate in the Pit Lake. The excess of sulfate predicted in the modeled results occurs because the DSM does not account for the precipitation of sulfate-bearing mineral phases, such as gypsum as the acidic solution passes through the neutralizing carbonate-rich aquifers. Gypsum precipitation was observed by EPRC (1982) in laboratory titrations of the tailings solution with a calcium hydroxide solution. If the average level of sulfate in wells TDM 9 and 41 (3,922 mg/L) is, instead, used for the first 6 years and then reduced to the level in TDM 37 (415 mg/L), the DSM closely matches the available Pit Lake measurements (Figure 3-24). In this latter scenario, the tailings seepage accounts for 30% of the sulfate in the pit during the first 20 years.



Figure 3-24 Model Simulated Comparison of Sulfate Mass Fluxes

3.3.7 Pit Lake Geochemical Processes

Geochemical processes occurring within the water column of the Pit Lake have the potential to affect water quality. These processes include the mineral-water equilibria reactions adsorption and sedimentation, and radiogenic decay specifically for radium.

3.3.7.1 Mineral-Water Equilibrium Processes

A limitation of the DSM used to simulate water compositions for the Pit Lake, based on rates of chemical inflow from different hydrologic sources, is that the solutes are treated conservatively (i.e., no changes in concentration because of geochemical reactions are included in the DSM simulation). However, geochemical reactions, such as mineral precipitation, can be expected to affect solute concentrations in pit lakes over long time frames. Hence, the bulk chemical compositions predicted by the DSM were input to the PHREEQC geochemical model (Parkhurst and Appelo, 1999) and equilibrated with appropriate chemical reactions.

The approach for determining the appropriate chemical equilibria involved the following procedure. The measured solute concentrations (Ca, Mg, K, Na, SO₄, Cl, HCO₃, pH, U, Se, and Ra) for the Pit Lake for the period from 1986 to 2005 were averaged to obtain a depiction of the current water composition (Appendix A and C). The average composition was entered into the PHREEQC geochemical model and speciated to determine the saturation state of the Pit Lake water. The speciation results indicated that Pit Lake water has had an average $CO_2(g)$ partial pressure of $10^{-2.82}$ atm or about 4.8 times the normal atmospheric $CO_2(g)$ level of $10^{-3.5}$ atm over the period of monitoring. Also, the model results indicated that the calcite saturation index (log ratio of the ion activity product divided by the solubility product for calcite) for the average Pit Lake is 0.05. This small positive value indicates that the average reservoir composition is normally slightly oversaturated compared to calcite solubility. The average reservoir composition was not oversaturated with the solubilities of any other minerals.

To conduct the long-term simulations, the yearly bulk compositions produced by the DSM simulations were entered into the PHREEQC model and equilibrated according to the constraints determined from the PHREEQC speciation results for the measured average reservoir composition, assuming that the current saturation state of the Pit Lake will be maintained in the future. These equilibria include setting the $CO_2(g)$ partial pressure at $10^{-2.82}$ atm and the saturation state for calcite at 0.05. An additional constraint of gypsum solubility was also specified because preliminary model runs indicated that the bulk compositions became oversaturated with gypsum after about 2,550 years because of evapoconcentration. Oversaturation with other minerals did not occur over the 1000-year simulation period. With these equilibria specified, the PHREEQC model was applied to the yearly bulk solution compositions output by the DSM. The only dissolved constituents that are affected by mineral equilibrium processes are calcium, bicarbonate, sulfate, pH, and TDS. The equilibrated solution compositions from the PHREEQC model calculations comprise the long-term predictions of water quality for the Pit Lake.

3.3.7.2 Adsorption and Sedimentation Processes

In addition to mineral precipitation, other chemical and physical processes could potentially reduce the concentrations of uranium, radium, and selenium in the Pit Lake. Selenium may associate with calcite and then coprecipitate, but the extent of association depends on the redox state of selenium, with selenite $(SeO_3^{Z^*})$ being preferentially adsorbed (Cowan et al., 1990). Radium has a fairly strong affinity for fine-grained sediments (e.g., Fetter, 1993) and should partition onto fine-grained sediments that either wash into the Pit Lake or are generated by inlake processes and removed via sedimentation. Thus, there are geochemical mechanisms, such as coprecipitation or adsorption and sedimentation, that may lead to chemical mass removal from the water column, and such removal may exert a control on the long-term chemical evolution of the Pit Lake. However, sedimentation rates and coprecipitation reactions that might affect uranium, selenium, and radium levels in the Pit Lake and other water bodies have not been well documented.

The limited data on sedimentation rates in the Pit Lake available from a previous investigation (SMI, 1998) offer contradictory results. Sediment cores and dredge samples collected in 1997 suggested that there was a large flux of sediments into the Pit Lake during the year following a widespread fire that swept through the area in 1996. An estimated concentration of total suspended solids (TSS) of 500 mg/L in the Pit Lake following the fire was inferred from the sediment core data. This is a concentration that is much higher than those typically observed in other reservoirs and lakes (Wetzel, 1975). However, analysis of water-quality data during this period indicates that this large sedimentation event had very little effect on the concentrations of uranium, selenium, or radium in the Pit Lake water column, indicating that removal of these constituents via adsorption to fine-grained sediments and subsequent sedimentation is not a significant mechanism for mass removal.

In contrast, data from sediment traps placed in the Pit Lake in 1997 suggested that the cumulative removal of radium by sedimentation was an important process, possibly removing an average of 36% per year of the total mass of radium in the water column (SMI, 1998). These data also suggested that removal of uranium and selenium from the water column via sedimentation was likely a relatively unimportant mechanism, possibly contributing to an average mass loss of 0.3 and 1.7%, respectively. Estimates of chemical mass removal were obtained by converting the concentrations of constituents from a volumetric basis to an aerial basis. This interpretation, however, assumes that all or most of the mass of the constituents in the sediments was removed from the dissolved phase in the water column and, further, that the removal of radium was associated with calcite precipitation. An alternative interpretation is that a portion of the mass of each constituent measured in the sediment traps was not removed from the dissolved phase (e.g., from the water column) but rather entered the system in the solid phase. This interpretation is supported by the data, which show that a greater mass of each of these constituents is deposited in the sediment traps during the winter, when erosion and transport of sediments into the pit during snowmelt are important. Furthermore, while the flux of calcium carbonate to the traps appears to be greatest during the summer, typical of many lakes and reservoirs (Wetzel, 1975), there is a poor correlation between the concentration of radium and the weight percentage of carbonate in the sediment traps during the summer, suggesting that integration of radium into calcite forming in the water column is of minor importance.

In combination, these results suggest that the removal of these constituents from the water column of the Pit Lake by sedimentation is not an important process, and, as such, these three constituents (uranium, selenium, and radium) were modeled without sedimentation and/or precipitation/coprecipitation controls.

3.3.7.3 Radiogenic Decay

Radium-226 is a radiogenic element with a half-life of 1,600 years. Therefore, because the modeled period was for 1,000 years, the radiological decay equation for radium was incorporated into the DSM.



4.0 PREDICTED LONG TERM WATER QUALITY

The model created for the Pit Lake was used to predict the time-dependent evolution of water quality for a specific set of hydrologic and geochemical constraints for 1,000 years. Long-term estimates of TDS, uranium, radium, and selenium concentrations and activity/concentrations are discussed in the following sections.

4.1 Long-Term Estimates of TDS

The concentrations of major ions that comprise TDS are predicted to increase steadily as chemical mass continues to be added by hydrologic flows, while evaporation removes pure water from the Pit Lake (Figure 4-1). After 1,000 years, the TDS concentration is predicted to be 10,310 mg/L. The largest component of TDS is sulfate, which reaches 7,208 mg/L after 1,000 years. This predicted TDS concentration is substantially greater than those predicted in earlier modeling efforts (3,500 mg/L [SMI, 1998] and 4,100 mg/L [EPRC, 1983]) after 2,000 years. The difference in predictions is attributable to the difference in the expected hydrologic conditions. The earlier modeling efforts were conducted with the expectation that the Pit Lake would be a flow-through hydrologic system over the long term, whereas the results described here are based on the expectation that the Pit Lake is a hydrologic sink over the long term.



Figure 4-1 Long-term TDS Predictions for Highland Pit Lake

The effects of evapoconcentration on TDS over the long term are modified to a small extent by the precipitation of calcite, which removes calcium and bicarbonate from solution and causes these solutes to remain relatively constant over time (Figure 4-1). The precipitation of gypsum starting at about year 2550 causes additional removal of Ca and SO4 from solution. The combined effects of calcite precipitation of fixed partial pressure of $CO_2(g)$ produce a relatively small range of pH values (7.75 to 7.85), which is consistent with monitoring data. All other

solutes are unaffected by chemical equilibria for 1,000-year time period considered in the modeling.

The modeling results are consistent with the known effects of evapoconcentration on lakes that have chemical compositions with $2^{*}[Ca] > [HCO_{3}]$, where the brackets refer to molal concentrations. Known as the theory of "chemical divides" (Eugster and Hardie, 1978), lakes that fall into this category will precipitate calcite until the bicarbonate is reduced to the point that calcite precipitation becomes negligible or stops. After that, Ca and other soluble ions will continue to increase in concentration with continued evapoconcentration until the solubility limit of another Ca mineral is reached. Most commonly, the next Ca mineral that reaches saturation is gypsum, as occurs in the Pit Lake. The end result of this evaporation pathway is a near-neutral Na-Ca-SO₄-(±Cl) solution (Drever, 1982; Eary, 1998; Eugster and Hardie, 1978). The results of the PHREEQC modeling for the Pit Lake are consistent with this type of chemical evolution over the long term.

4.2 Long-Term Estimates of Uranium and Radium

Model simulations indicate that uranium and radium concentrations will increase slowly to approximately 3,034 pCi/L (4.54 mg/L) and 4.5 pCi/L, respectively, after 1,000 years (Figures 4-2 and 4-3). Dissolved uranium and radium are not expected to be strongly affected by mineral precipitation, adsorption, or sedimentation processes within the Pit Lake that would remove these constituents from solution. Hence, the long-term simulations indicate that uranium and radium concentrations increase slowly over time because of evapoconcentration, although the increase for radium is moderated by radioactive decay. The very slow increase in concentration over the long term is due to the fact that, after the initial influx of uranium and radium from the Tailings Basin seepage, the hydrologic inflows have very low concentrations (Table 3.7). As a result, the rates of addition of uranium and radium to the Pit Lake are very small fractions of the masses already existent in the lake, thereby producing only small increases in concentrations in the hydrologic inflows continue to input proportionately larger masses of dissolved constituents from the hydrologic sources throughout the simulation period, thereby producing comparatively greater increases in concentration because of evapoconcentration.



Figure 4-2 Long-term Uranium Predictions for Highland Pit Lake



Figure 4-3 Long-term Radium Predictions for the Highland Pit Lake

4.3 Long-Term Estimates of Selenium

The concentration of selenium is predicted to increase from its current level of 0.09 mg/L to 0.14 mg/L after 1,000 years (Figure 4-4). Previous modeling efforts predicted that selenium concentrations would decrease to less than 0.05 mg/L within approximately 60 years. However, those previous predictions were based on a model that included the removal of selenium from the water column by sedimentation processes and the assumption that the Pit Lake would become a flow-through system in which the high initial concentrations of selenium in the Pit Lake would eventually be displaced by lower concentrations flowing in from groundwater. As discussed in Section 3.3.7.2, removal of constituents via the sedimentation process is not well defined in the Pit Lake; therefore, for the model simulations presented here, the removal of selenium concentrations increase over time because of evapoconcentration similar to uranium. Also similar to uranium, the rate of increase in selenium concentrations for the Pit Lake is very slow after the initial influx of Tailings Basin seepage because the hydrologic inflows have very low concentrations compared to those already present in the Pit Lake.



Figure 4-4 Long-term Selenium Predictions for Highland Pit Lake

5.0 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Numerous factors can potentially contribute to uncertainty in long-term predictions of geochemical conditions, as simulated by dynamic system models such as Stella[™]. Results of the baseline modeling presented above are based on the currently available data in combination with relevant scientific theory and professional experience. However, because it is extremely difficult to determine the absolute levels of constituents in various aqueous streams and or flow volumes, a series of sensitivity simulations were created using the baseline dynamic system model of the Pit Lake to determine the relative influence of the parameters included in the model. A summary description of each simulation and the resulting final concentrations at 1,000 years are listed in Table 5.1.

5.1 TDSS and OBSS Total Water Quality

The model was not sensitive to concentration changes in the TDSS but was highly sensitive to the alteration of concentration for the OBSS component. Model sensitivity to the concentrations of constituents in the TDSS and OBSS was evaluated by doubling the baseline levels and reducing the levels by 50%. Doubling the concentrations of the constituents from both background flow and tailings seepage in the TDSS inflow primarily impacted radium and selenium, whose final activity/concentrations reached 6.11 pCi/L and 0.153 mg/L. Decreasing the influent concentrations by half reduced the final activity-concentrations of radium and selenium to 3.72 pCi/L and 0.137 mg/L respectively.

Doubling the concentrations of the constituents from both background flow and tailings seepage in the OBSS aquifer had a significant effect on the final levels of radium, uranium, and selenium. The final activity/concentrations of these elements reached 6.41 pCi/L, 7.84 mg/L, and 0.267 mg/L, an increase of 42%, 71% and 88% respectively (Table 5.1). Decreasing the influent concentrations by half reduced the final activity-concentrations of radium, uranium, and selenium to 3.57 pCi/L, 2.96 mg/L, and 0.080 mg/L respectively. The concentrations of these constituents had been fitted to match measured water-quality data for the Pit Lake, and changes to the OBSS chemistry resulted in a large discrepancy between early model results and the observed water-quality data for the Pit Lake, suggesting that the baseline levels most accurately reflected the mass flux from the OBSS (Figures 5-1 through 5-3).

5.2 Tailings Basin Seepage through Backfill

The model results were not very sensitive to changes in the duration or rate of flow of tailings seepage through the backfill. Recent estimates suggest that the seepage mound under the Tailings Dam at the Site will naturally disappear in 20 to 60 years at an "extreme worst-case" flow rate of 60 years of flow averaging 30 gpm (4.03 acre-ft/month) (WWL, 1989). Several sensitivity scenarios were created to test the sensitivity of the model to tailings seepage through the backfill (Table 5.1). Simulations were conducted with 20, 40, and 60 years of tailings seepage at 30 gpm. These scenarios also lengthened the duration of the maximum impact of tailings water on the TDSS aquifer. The differences between the final concentrations of COPCs were minor, with the largest impacts seen in uranium, whose final concentrations ranged from 4.59 to 4.68 mg/L, an increase from baseline of less than 2%.

A second set of simulations evaluated the effect of decreasing and increasing the rate of seepage from the Tailings Basin through the backfill by 50%. Adjusting the flow rate had a smaller impact on the ultimate concentrations than changing the duration of draindown, as discussed above (Table 5.1).

Table 5.1	Results	of Sensitivity	Analysis
-----------	---------	----------------	----------

			Final Concentra	tions (1,00	Baseline Description	
			Ra-226	U	Se	
Туре	Simulation	Description	pCi/L	mg/L	mg/L	
Final	Final DSM of Highland Pit Lake	Final DSM of Highland Pit Lake	3.72	4.54	0.143	
Baseline		Baseline Simulation used	4.51	4.59	0.143	
TDSS	TDSS Chemistry	Total Chemistry x 2	6.11	4.61	0.153	
	TDSS Chemistry	Total Chemistry x 0.5	3.72	4.58	0.137	
OBSS	OBSS Chemistry	Total Chemistry x 2	6.41	7.84	0.267	
	OBSS Chemistry	Total Chemistry x 0.5	3.57	2.96	0.08	
Tailings Dam Impacts	Cl mixing model & TD seepage	40 year Draindown	4.52	4.63	0.143	20 year draindown
	Cl mixing model & TD seepage	60 year Draindown	4.52	4.68	0.143	20 year draindown
	CI mixing model	1% of Basin Impacted	4.45	4.59	0.143	20% of Basin Impacted
	Cl mixing model	10% of Basin Impacted	4.48	4.59	0.143	20% of Basin Impacted
	Cl mixing model	30% of Basin Impacted	4.55	4.59	0.143	20% of Basin Impacted
	CI mixing model	40% of Basin Impacted	4.58	4.59	0.143	20% of Basin Impacted
	CI mixing model	50% of Basin Impacted	4.61	4.59	0.143	20% of Basin Impacted
	CI mixing model	60% of Basin Impacted	4.64	4.59	0.143	20% of Basin Impacted
	CI mixing model	TDSS keywell 99% Tailings Impact for 20 years	4.51	4.59	0.143	TDSS keywell 70% impact for 20 years
	CI mixing model	TDSS keywell 99% Tailings Impact for 60 years	4.52	4.68	0.143	TDSS keywell 70% impact for 20 years
	Cl mixing model	40% of Basin Impacted; TDSS keywell 99% Tailings Impact for 60 years	4.58	4.68	0.143	20% Impact; TDSS keywell 70% impact for 20 years
	CI mixing model	60 year OBSS draindown	4.51	4.59	0.143	20 year OBSS Draindown
	CI mixing model	60 year OBSS keywell at 25%;	4.51	4.59	0.143	OBSS key well 13% impacted; 20 years
	CI mixing model	60 year OBSS draindown; 40% impacted area; TDSS keywell 99% impacted for 60 years	4.58	4.68	0.143	20 year OBSS draindown; 20% impacted area



			Final Concentra	ations (1,000 years) Baseline Description
			Ra-226	U Se	
Туре	Simulation	Description	pCi/L	mg/L mg/L	
Final	Final DSM of Highland Pit Lake	Final DSM of Highland Pit Lake	3.72	4.54 0.143	
Baseline		Baseline Simulation used for Sensitivity Analyses	4.51	4.59 0.143	
Tailings Dam Impacts	CI mixing model	60 year OBSS keywell at 25%; 40% impacted area; TDSS keywell 99% impacted for 60 years	4.58	4.68 0.143	OBSS key well 13% impacted
	TD Seepage through backfill	50% lower TD Seepage Flow in Backfill (2.02 Acre-foot/month)	4.51	4.57 0.143	4.03 Acre-foot/month
	TD Seepage through backfill	50% higher TD Seepage Flow in Backfill (6.05 Acre-foot/month)	4.52	4.61 0.143	4.03 Acre-foot/month
	TD Seepage through backfill	Concentration in TD Seepage x 2	4.52	4.64 0.143	
Perched Aquifer	Perched Aquifer Flows	10% higher flow (10.95 Acre- foot/month)	4.26	4.42 0.135	9.74 Acre-foot/month
	Perched Aquifer Flows	20% higher flow (11.94 Acre- foot/month)	4.03	4.27 0.127	9.74 Acre-foot/month
	Perched Aquifer Flows	10% lower flow (8.96 Acre- foot/month)	4.79	4.76 0.151	9.74 Acre-foot/month
	Perched Aquifer Flows	20% lower flow (7.96 Acre- foot/month)	5.09	4.95 0.161	9.74 Acre-foot/month
	Perched Aquifer Chemistry	Concentrations x 2	4.57	5.58 0.144	
Runoff	Runoff flow rate	Runoff calculated as 2.4% of Rainfall	4.56	5.15 0.162	6% of Rainfall
	Runoff flow rate	Runoff calculated as 13% of Rainfall	4.36	3.78 0.115	6% of Rainfall
	Runoff Chemistry	U, Ra, Se from Table 3.6	4.51	4.49 0.143	U, Ra, Se from TDM37
	Runoff Chemistry	Runoff Concentrations x2	5.53	4.89 0.15	See Table 3.6 for TDS; U, Ra, Se from TDM37; decrease over time
	Runoff Chemistry	Highest initial concentrations from key wells	4.51	4.59 0.143	See Table 3.6 for TDS; U, Ra, Se from TDM37; decrease over time

Table 5.1 Results of Sensitivity Analysis (continued)



			Final Concentra	tions (1 M) vears)	Baseline Description
					Jears)	
			Ra-226	U	Se	
Туре	Simulation	Description	pCi/L	mg/L	mg/L	
Final	Final DSM of Highland Pit Lake	Final DSM of Highland Pit Lake	3.72	4.54	0.143	
Baseline		Baseline Simulation used for Sensitivity Analyses	4.51	4.59	0.143	
Climate	Precipitation ^a	High Precipitation (21.85 in/yr)	2.48	2.52	0.078	Precipitation = 12.06 in/yr
	Precipitation ^a	Low Precipitation (5.16 in/yr)	6.37	6.47	0.201	Precipitation = 12.06 in/yr
	Evaporation	High Evaporation Rate (54.5 in/yr)	7.06	7.18	0.223	Evaporation=45.2 in/yr
	Evaporation	Low Evaporation Rate (40.2 in/yr)	3.35	3.41	0.106 `	Evaporation=45.2 in/yr

Table 5.1 Results of Sensitivity Analysis (continued)

Notes:

^a - Runoff was calculated as in baseline case as 6% of 12.06 in/yr annual precipitation

CI - chloride

DSM - dynamic systems model

in/yr - inches per year

mg/L - milligrams per liter OBSS - Ore Body Sandstone

% - percent

pCi/L - picoCuries per liter

Ra - Radium

Se - Selenium

TDSS - Tailings Dam Sandstone

U - Uranium



Figure 5-1 Sensitivity: Measured vs. Modeled Radium



Figure 5-2 Sensitivity: Measured vs. Modeled Uranium



Figure 5-3 Sensitivity: Measured vs. Modeled Selenium

5.3 Tailings Basin Seepage in the TDSS and OBSS Aquifers

The chloride-mixing model described in Section 3.3.5 includes multiple parameters that were sensitivity tested, including the maximum percentage of tailings water impacting the key wells, the length of draindown, and the percentage of the drainage basin impacted by tailings seepage.

As discussed in Section 3.3.6, the early influx of radium, uranium, and selenium to the Pit Lake through the OBSS is fitted at concentrations higher than those observed in the tailings seepage. Consequently, changes introduced in these sensitivity simulations had minimal influence on the concentration of these constituents, as shown in Table 5.1.

The model was not sensitive to changing the seepage concentrations of radium, uranium, and selenium in the TDSS between the average concentrations observed in wells TDM 9 and TDM 41 and the highest average values from well TDM 37 (Table 3.9). In all simulations varying the radionuclides in the seepage with the maximum percentage of tailings water in the TDSS and the duration of the draindown or the percentage of the basin impacted, the final activity-concentrations of radium, uranium and selenium were 4.5 pCi/L, 4.6-4.7 mg/L, and 0.143 mg/L respectively (not shown in Table 5.1).

5.4 Perched Aquifer Flow and Water Quality

Groundwater flow in the shallow alluvial aquifer was estimated from field observations as 74 gpm (9.95 acre-ft/month) (Range, 1998). Because this flow is not well documented, the rate was changed by $\pm 10\%$ and $\pm 20\%$ to examine the sensitivity of the model to the perched aquifer discharge. The resulting concentrations for the COPCs changed slightly (Table 5.1). Radium ranged from 4.03 to 5.09 pCi/L, uranium ranged from 4.27 to 4.95 mg/L, and selenium ranged from 0.13 to 0.16 mg/L. Doubling the concentrations of the constituents in the perched aquifer inflow primarily impacted the long-term concentration of uranium, resulting in a final concentration of 5.58 mg/L, an increase of 21%.

5.5 Surface Runoff Rates and Water Quality

The amount of surface runoff entering the Pit Lake from precipitation events was estimated by several methods (EPRC, 1983), as summarized in Table 3.3, and averaged 6%. Sensitivity runs were conducted using the high- and low-end percentages from these methods. When runoff was increased to 13% of rainfall, radium, uranium, and selenium decreased by dilution to 4.36 pCi/L, 3.78 mg/L, and 0.12 mg/L respectively. When runoff was reduced to 2.4% of rainfall, radium, uranium, and selenium increased to 4.56 pCi/L, 5.15 mg/L, and 0.16 mg/L.

The water quality of the runoff was also tested because no field measurements exist. As described in Section 3.3.3, in one simulation, the activity of radium reported by EPRC (1983) was initially used for surface runoff. The activity of uranium and the concentration of selenium in surface runoff were calculated from the previously reported activity of radium using the ratio of uranium to radium and the ratio of selenium to radium measured in wells completed in the backfill (Table 3.8). The modeled concentrations/activities of all constituents were reduced over time from the weighted prevegetation values to the undisturbed values to account for the effect of revegetation at the Site. The results from this simulation are listed in Table 5.1. A second conservative simulation was created where the early activity-concentrations of uranium, radium, and selenium were set to the values observed in well TDM 37, the well in the flow path between the Tailings Dam and Pit Lake that exhibits the highest concentrations of radionuclides (Table



3.9). This simulation is the baseline scenario listed in Table 5.1. The primary impact of this change was a slight increase in uranium.

The sensitivity of the Pit Lake to the water quality in the runoff was examined in a series of simulations listed in Table 5.1 including unrealistic worst-case scenarios in which the water quality of the runoff was set at the highest observed concentrations from the monitoring wells with no decrease for 1,000 years. The activity/concentrations of radium and uranium under this simulation increased to 9.31 pCi/L and 6.92 mg/L, respectively, with no significant change in the concentration of selenium.

5.6 Precipitation and Evaporation Rates

The Pit Lake was modeled using the average rates for precipitation (12.06 in/year) and evaporation (45.2 in/year) documented by MFG (2003a). One thousand years is a sufficient period to realistically expect variations in the local and regional climate to affect the Pit Lake. A period of drought or excessive precipitation could affect both short- and long-term conditions through changes in direct surface runoff and evaporation rates. Extended climatic changes could also impact the rates of recharge to the local groundwater flow system. Drought conditions would be expected to magnify the effects of evapoconcentration and thus increase the concentrations of the COPCs. A shift towards a wetter climate would be expected to dilute the Pit Lake and thus decrease the concentrations of the COPCs.

Future climate changes are, at best, extremely difficult to predict and quantify, and this type of sensitivity testing is not attempted by this study. Instead, the sensitivity of this DSM of the Pit Lake to rainfall and evaporation rates was evaluated using the minimum and maximum rates reported by MFG (2003a) and listed in Tables 3.2 and 3.5. Groundwater inflows and runoff rates were not altered despite the potential changes in recharge. The results listed in Table 5.1 illustrate the sensitivity of the model to a change in precipitation or evaporation at the extreme ends of the reported ranges.

6.0 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Due to recent revisions of the Site groundwater concept and the availability of additional groundwater and Pit Lake water-quality data, a revised DSM was developed to simulate the dynamic hydrologic and geochemical evolution of the Pit Lake. Long-term predictions were made for the concentrations of TDS and selenium and for the activity-concentrations of uranium and radium. The computer model was developed using water-quality data collected during the past 19 years. Historical water-quality measurements the Pit Lake provided a tool for calibrating the computer model prior to extending the modeling time to 1,000 years.

The following conclusions can be drawn based on the results obtained from the computer modeling:

- Water-quality measurements from the Pit Lake during the first 19 years of filling indicate that leaching of constituents to the OBSS groundwater system from exposed uranium roll-front deposits, and seepage from the Tailings Basin have resulted in elevated levels of radium, selenium, uranium, sulfate, and TDS in the Pit Lake.
- Calibrations of the computer model for uranium, radium and selenium required that a source term be included to account for leaching of constituents from the exposed and oxidized portions of the remaining mineralized zone. The major source terms incorporated into the DSM were input as an early flushing of constituents from the remaining oxidized ore body and seepage from the Tailings Basin. This approach provided a good fit of modeled to existing water-quality data. The potential contribution of the Tailings Basin was also evaluated.
- The disposal of tailings to the east of the Pit Lake, structurally elevated by as much as 200 to 400 feet, affected the level of TDS during the early history of the Pit Lake r. For example, in the first 20 years of the filling of the Pit Lake, mass balance calculations indicated that 53% of the chloride and a maximum of 30% of the sulfate came from the tailings impoundment.
- Under current conditions, the primary source of chemical mass entering the Pit Lake is from the OBSS. Specifically, uranium, radium, and selenium are leached from the remaining mineralized zone exposed in the pit walls. However, seepage from the Tailings Basin has also contributed a significant mass of constituents to the Pit Lake. Model simulations indicate that as much as 24% of the uranium and 11% of the selenium in the Pit Lake could come from the tailings impoundment.
- Evaporation of water from the Pit Lake constitutes the sole hydrologic outflow and, therefore, has a significant effect on the long-term evolution of chemistry in the Pit Lake due to evapoconcentration of Pit Lake constituents.
- The predicted concentration of TDS at year 1,000 is approximately 10,310 mg/L. Sulfate levels exert the primary control on TDS, which increases to a maximum modeled concentration of 7,208 mg/L at 1,000 years.
- The precipitation of calcite imposes limits on the concentrations of calcium and bicarbonate in the lake.
- The predicted activity/concentrations of uranium and radium after 1,000 years are 4.54 mg/L (3,034 pCi/L) and 3.7 pCi/L, respectively.

7.0 REFERENCES

- Carovillano, R. (1998) *Highland Tailings Basin Groundwater Study, Final Report*. Prepared for Exxon Production Research Company and Exxon Coal and Minerals Company. Report dated August.
- Cowan, C.E., J.M. Zachara, and C.T. Resch (1990) Solution ion effects on the surface exchange of selenite on calcite. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 24: 2223-2233.
- DeVoto, R.H. (1978) Uranium in phanerozoic sandstone and volcanic rocks. In *Uranium Deposits, Their Mineralogy and Origin*, edited by Kimberley, M.M., Toronto, Canada: University of Toronto Press.
- Drever, J.I. (1982) The Geochemistry of Natural Waters (2nd Edition). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Eary, L.E. (1998) Predicting the effects of evapoconcentration on water quality in mine pit lakes. *J. Geochem. Expl.* 64: 223-236.
- Eugster, H.P., and L.A. Hardie (1978) Saline lakes. In: *Lakes, Chemistry, Geology, Physics*, ed. A. Lerman. New York: Springer.
- Exxon Coal and Minerals Company (1994) Supporting Information for Alternate Concentration Limit Application, Highland Reclamation Project, Exxon Coal and Minerals Company, Docket Number 40-8102, NRC License Number SUA-1139. December.
- Exxon Coal and Minerals Company (1998) Supporting Information for Alternate Concentration Limit Application, Highland Reclamation Project, Exxon Coal and Minerals Company, Docket Number 40-8102, NRC License Number SUA-1139. December.
- Exxon Production Research Company (1982) *Highland Uranium Tailings Impoundment Seepage Study*. February.
- Exxon Production Research Company (1983) Surface Mine Reclamation Lake Study for Highland Uranium Operations (Updated). April.
- Fetter, C.W. (1993) Contaminant Hydrogeology. New York: Macmillan.
- Harshman, E.N. (1974) Distribution of elements in some roll-type uranium deposits. In *Formation of Uranium Ore Deposits, Proceedings, International Atomic Energy Agency* (IAEA-SM-183/4).
- Hem, J.D. (1985) *Study and Interpretation of the Chemical Characteristics of Natural Water*. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2254.
- Houston, R.S. (1969) Aspects of the geologic history of Wyoming related to the formation of uranium deposits. *Contributions to Geology* 8: 2:67-79.
- Langden R.E., and A.L. Kidwell (1973) Geology and geochemistry of the Highland uranium deposit, Converse County, Wyoming. *Earth Science Bulletin* 6:41-48.

- Langmuir, D. (1997) Aqueous Environmental Geochemistry. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Lovley, D.R., E.J.P. Phillips, T.A. Gorby, and E.R. Landa (1991) Microbial reduction of uranium. *Nature* 350: 413-416.
- MFG, Inc. (2003a) Highland Reservoir precipitation, pan evaporation, and surface water runoff data. Technical Memo to file. January 8.
- MFG, Inc. (2003b) Long-Term Pit Lake and Groundwater Hydrology at The Highland Mine Site, Converse County, Wyoming. August.
- Parkhurst, D.L., and C.A.J. Appelo (1999) User's guide to PHREEQC (version 2.12) A computer program for speciation, batch-reaction, one-dimensional transport, and inverse geochemical calculations. *Water-Res. Invest.* Rep. 99-4259 U.S. Geol. Surv., Denver, Colorado.
- Range, D.M. (1998) Senior staff engineer at Exxon Coal and Mineral Company, Houston, Texas. Personal communication to Finley, J.B., Shepherd Miller, Inc., Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Shepherd Miller, Inc. (1998) *Hydrologic and Chemical Evolution of Highland Pit Lake, Converse, County, Wyoming.* November 12.
- Water Waste & Land (1984) Final Reclamation Plan for the Highland Uranium Operations Tailings Basin. December.
- Water Waste and Land (1989) Supporting Information to License Amendment Response Highland Reclamation Project, Glenrock, Wyoming. Report prepared for Exxon Coal and Minerals Company by Water, Waste and Land, Inc. Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Wetzel, R.G. (1975) *Limnology*. New York: Harcourt, Brace: Jovanovich College Publishers.
- University of Wyoming (Laramie), Department of Agricultural Engineering (1991) *Design Information for Evaporation Ponds in Wyoming*. Published by the Wyoming Water Research Center (WWRC-85-21).

APPENDIX A DYNAMIC SYSTEMS/PHREEQC GEOCHEMICAL MODEL RESULTS: WATER CHEMISTRY

APPENDIX A

DYNAMIC SYSTEMS/PHREEQC GEOCHEMICAL MODEL RESULTS:

Geochemical Modeling Approach

The dynamic systems model (DSM) used to predict the geochemical evolution of the Highland Pit Lake is based on a mass balance approach. The DSM calculates a chemical mass balance for each solute using the following mathematical expression:

$$\frac{d(C_k V)}{dt} = \sum_{i=1}^n C_{k,i} Q_i^{Inflow} - \sum_{j=1}^m C_{k,j} Q_j^{Outflow}$$

where $C_k V$ is the mass of solute k in the Highland Pit Lake and $C_{k,i(j)}$ are the concentrations of solute k in the source of inflow *i* and source of outflow *j* (in units of mass per unit volume). The DSM was run for 1000 years (1984 to 2984) and bulk solution compositions were output on a yearly basis.

A limitation of the DSM is that solutes are treated conservatively, that is, no changes in concentration because of geochemical reactions are included in the DSM simulation. However, geochemical reactions, such as mineral precipitation, can be expected to affect solute concentrations in pit lakes over long time frames. Hence, the bulk chemical compositions predicted by the DSM were input to the PHREEQC geochemical model (Parkhurst and Appelo, 1999) and equilibrated with appropriate chemical reactions.

The approach for determining the appropriate chemical equilibria involved the following procedure. The measured solute concentrations (Ca, Mg, K, Na, SO₄, Cl, HCO₃, pH, U, Se, and Ra) for the Highlands Pit Lake for the period from 1986 to 2005 were averaged to obtain a depiction of the current water composition (Table A.1). The average composition was entered into the PHREEQC model and speciated to determine the saturation state of the Pit Lake water. The speciation results indicated that Pit Lake water has had an average CO₂(g) partial pressure of $10^{-2.82}$ atm or about 4.8 times the normal atmospheric CO₂(g) level of $10^{-3.5}$ atm over the period of monitoring. Also, the model results indicated that the calcite saturation index (log ratio of the ion activity product divided by the solubility product for calcite) for the average reservoir is 0.05. This small positive value indicates that the average reservoir composition is normally slightly oversaturated compared to calcite solubility. The average reservoir composition was not oversaturated with the solubilities of any other minerals.

To conduct the long-term simulations, the yearly bulk compositions from the DSM results were entered into the PHREEQC model with the equilibria constraints determined from the PHREEQC speciation results for the measured reservoir composition, assuming that the current saturation state of the reservoir will be maintained in the future. These equilibria include setting the $CO_2(g)$ partial pressure at $10^{-2.82}$ atm and the saturation state for calcite at 0.05. An additional constraint of gypsum solubility was also specified because preliminary model runs indicated that the bulk compositions became oversaturated with gypsum after about 2550 years because of evapoconcentration. Oversaturation with other minerals did not occur over the 1000-year simulation period. With these equilibria specified, the PHREEQC model was applied to the yearly bulk solution compositions output by the DSM. The PHREEQC results comprise the long-term predictions of water quality for the Highland Pit Lake.

Summary of Results

The results of the long-term modeling are given in Table A.2. A comparison of the DSM bulk compositions to the PHREEQC equilibrated solutions shows that calcite precipitation removes Ca and HCO₃ from solution. The precipitation of gypsum starting at about year 2550 causes additional removal of Ca and SO₄ from solution. The combined effects of calcite precipitation of fixed partial pressure of CO₂(g) produce a relatively small range of pH values of 7.75 to 7.85, which is consistent with monitoring data. All other solutes are unaffected by chemical equilibria for 1000-year time period considered in the modeling.

The modeling results are consistent with the known effects of evapoconcentration on lakes that have chemical compositions with $2^{*}[Ca] > [HCO_{3}]$ where the brackets refer to molal concentrations. Known as the theory of "chemical divides" (Eugster and Hardie, 1978), lakes that fall into this category will precipitate calcite until the bicarbonate is reduced to the point that calcite precipitation becomes negligible or stops. After that, Ca will continue to increase in concentration along with other soluble ions with continued evapoconcentration until the solubility limit of another Ca mineral is reached. Most commonly, the next Ca mineral that reaches saturation is gypsum as occurs in the Highland Pit Lake. The end result of this evaporation pathway is a near-neutral, Na-Ca-SO₄-(±Cl) solution (Drever, 1978; Eary, 1998; Eugster and Hardie, 1978). The results of the PHREEQC modeling for the Highland Pit Lake are consistent with this type of chemical evolution over the long-term.

References

- Drever, J. I. 1982. The *Geochemistry of Natural Waters* (2nd Edition). Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Eary, L. E. 1998. Predicting the effects of evapoconcentration on water quality in mine pit lakes. *J. Geochem. Expl.* 64, 223-236.
- Eugster, H. P. and Hardie, L. A. 1978. Saline lakes. In: Lerman, A. (Ed.), *Lakes, Chemistry, Geology, Physics*. Springer, New York, pp. 237-293.

Parkhurst, D.L. and C. A. J. Appelo. 1999. User's guide to PHREEQC (version 2.12) -

a computer program for speciation, Batch-reaction, one-dimensional transport, and inverse geochemical calculations. Water-Res. Invest. Rep. 99-4259 U.S. Geol. Surv., Denver, Colorado.

Table A.1.	Average chemical composition for the Highland Pit Lake determined from
	samples collected from 1986 to 2005.

Analyte	Concentration
Calcium (mg/L)	95.8
Chloride (mg/L)	29
Bicarbonate (mg/L)	142
Potassium (mg/L)	10.8
Magnesium (mg/L)	28.4
Sodium (mg/L)	111.7
pH (s.u.)	7.82
Sulfate (mg/L)	447.1
Temperature (°C)	7.0



	pH*	Calc	ium (mg/L)	Magn 🖉	esium (mg/L) 🕺	Pota	sium (mg/L)	Sod	lium (mg/L)	Chlo	oride (mg/L)	Sulfate (mg/L)	
Year	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC
1984	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1986	7.79	84	84	25	25	11	11	86	110	21	21	411	411
1990	7.82	90	90	26	26	13	13	93	112	24	24	426	426
1995	7.83	96	93	27	27	15	15	101	110	27	27	431	431
2000	7.84	95	90	30	30	16	16	109	117	29	29	446	446
2005	7.79	97	94	32	32	17	17	117	128	32	32	469	469
2010	7.79	101	94	35	35	19	19	125	135	35	35	496	497
2015	7.85	105	91	38	38	20	20	133	144	37	37	524	525
2020	7.85	110	92	41	41	22	22	142	151	40	40	552	553
2025	7.85	115	93	43	43	23	23	150	160	42	42	580	581
2030	7.85	120	94	45	45	24	24	159	170	45	45	608	609
2035	7.85	126	96	48	48	25	25	169	177	47	47	637	638
2040	7.85	131	97	50	50	27	27	178	188	50	50	668	669
2045	7.85	137	99	53	53	28	28	187	196	52	52	699	700
2050	7.85	143	100	56	56	30	30	197	205	55	55	731	732
2075	7.84	175	109	70	70	37	37	248	256	69	69	902	904
2100	7.84	210	119	86	86	45	45	302	309	84	84	1,089	1,091
2125	7.83	245	129	102	102	54	54	357	362	100	100	1,276	1,279
2150	7.83	279	139	118	118	62		411	414	115	115	1,460	1,464
2175	7.83	313	148	134	134	70	70	464	466	130	130	1,642	1,648
2200	7.82	346	157	149	150	78	78	517	520	145	146	1,823	1,830
2225	7.82	379	165	165	166	86	86	569	570	160	161	2,001	2,009
2250	7.81	412	174	180	181	95	95	621	621	175	176	2,178	2,188
2275	7.81	444	183	195	196	102	102	673	672	189	190	2,353	2,364
2300	7.80	477	192	210	211	110	111	724	723	204	205	2,528	2,541
2325	7.80	509	200	225	226	118	119	775	773	218	219	2,702	2,717
2350	7.80	541	209	240	241	126	127	826	824	233	234	2,876	2,893
2375	7.79	573	217	255	257	133	134	877	874	247	249	3,049	3,068
2400	7.79	605	225	270	272	141	142	928	925	262	264	3,223	3,244
2450	7.78	669	242	300	302	157	158	1,029	1,025	290	292	3,568	3,594

Table A.2. Summary of yearly compositions for the Highland Pit Lake output from the DSM and after equilibration with PHREEQC



Table A.2. Summary of yearly compositions for the Highland Pit Lake output from the DSM and after equilibration with PHREEQC (continued)

* The dynamic systems model (DSM) does not produce a solution pH. The predicted pH is from the PHREEQC modeling results. mg/L = milligrams per liter

٢

					FIREE					
	Bicart	ponate (mg/L)	Radium	n (mg/L)	Selei	Selenium (mg/L)		nium (mg/L)	Total Dissolved Solids**(mg/L)	
Year	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC
1984	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1986	134	134	1.51E-08	1.51E-08	0.400	0.400	3.15	3.15	707	732
1990	143	143	2.01E-06	2.01E-06	0.227	0.227	3.02	3.02	746	765
1995	154	146	4.95E-09	4.95E-09	0.147	0.147	3.03	3.03	776	779
2000	164	149	4.46E-09	4.46E-09	0.117	0.117	3.03	3.03	809	805
2005	175	165	4.27E-09	4.27E-09	0.102	0.102	3.01	3.01	853	856
2010	187	166	4.14E-09	4.14E-09	0.095	0.095	3.01	3.02	906	900
2015	199	153	4.09E-09	4.09E-09	0.090	0.090	3.02	3.02	958	932
2020	211	154	4.07E-09	4.07E-09	0.087	0.087	3.02	3.02	1,014	977
2025	224	154	4.08E-09	4.08E-09	0.085	0.085	3.03	3.03	1,066	1,021
2030	237	155	4.09E-09	4.09E-09	0.084	0.084	3.04	3.04	1,121	1,067
2035	250	155	4.11E-09	4.11E-09	0.084	0.084	3.06	3.06	1,178	1,110
2040	264	156	4.13E-09	4.13E-09	0.084	0.084	3.07	3.07	1,237	1,161
2045	277	156	4.13E-09	4.13E-09	0.084	0.084	3.07	3.07	1,295	1,208
2050	291	156	4.13E-09	4.13E-09	0.084	0.084	3.08	3.08	1,358	1,258
2075	364	157	4.20E-09	4.20E-09	0.086	0.086	3.16	3.17	1,683	1,525
2100	442	157	4.31E-09	4.31E-09	0.089	0.089	3.28	3.29	2,037	1,816
2125	520	157	4.39E-09	4.39E-09	0.092	0.092	3.37	3.38	2,393	2,108
2150	597	158	4.44E-09	4.44E-09	0.095	0.095	3.45	3.46	2,742	2,394
2175	674	157	4.48E-09	4.48E-09	0.097	0.097	3.51	3.52	3,088	2,678
2200	749	157	4.51E-09	4.51E-09	0.099	0.099	3.56	3.57	3,430	2,961
2225	824	157	4.52E-09	4.52E-09	0.101	0.101	3.60	3.61	3,769	3,238
2250	898	157	4.55E-09	4.55E-09	0.102	0.102	3.65	3.67	4,106	3,516
2275	971	157	4.55E-09	4.55E-09	0.104	0.105	3.68	3.70	4,437	3,788
2300	1,045	156	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.105	0.106	3.72	3.74	4,771	4,063
2325	1,118	156	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.107	0.108	3.75	3.77	5,101	4,335
2350	1,190	155	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.108	0.109	3.79	3.81	5,431	4,608
2375	1,263	155	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.110	0.111	3.82	3.84	5,759	4,879
2400	1,336	155	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.111	0.112	3.85	3.88	6,090	5,153

 Table A.2. Summary of yearly compositions for the Highland Pit Lake output from the DSM and after equilibration with

 PHREEQC (continued)

	Bicarbonate (mg/L)		Radium (mg/L)		Selei	Selenium (mg/L)		nium (mg/L)	Total Dissolved Solids**(mg/L)					
Year	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC	DSM	PHREEQC				
2450	1,481	154	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.114	0.115	3.92	3.95	6,745	5,693				
2500	1,625	153	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.116	0.117	3.98	4.01	7,401	6,236				
2550	1,770	153	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.119	0.120	4.04	4.08	8,057	6,780				
2600	1,915	152	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.122	0.123	4.10	4.14	8,712	7,322				
2650	2,059	151	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.125	0.126	4.17	4.21	9,367	7,869				
2700	2,204	150	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.127	0.128	4.23	4.28	10,023	8,414				
2750	2,348	150	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.130	0.132	4.29	4.34	10,679	8,962				
2800	2,493	149	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.133	0.135	4.36	4.41	11,332	9,508				
2850	2,637	150	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.135	0.137	4.42	4.48	11,989	10,029				
2900	2,782	153	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.138	0.140	4.48	4.54	12,645	10,509				
2950	2,927	150	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.141	0.143	4.54	4.61	13,298	10,990				
2984	3,025	157	4.56E-09	4.56E-09	0.143	0.145	4.59	4.66	13,744	11,319				

Table A.2. Summary of yearly compositions for the Highland Pit Lake output from the DSM and after equilibration with PHREEQC (continued)

**TDS = Ca + Mg + Na + K + CI + SO₄ + 0.4917*HCO₃

DSM = dynamic systems model

mg/L = milligrams per liter

APPENDIX B DYNAMIC SYSTEMS MODEL RESULTS: WATER BALANCE

APPENDIX B WATER BALANCE

FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

1.30	11111	n na	2020	1. an 19 15	Inflow	Inflow	Perched	Inflow,	Inflow?	Tailings	Outflow	Total
	\mathcal{D}	2022	202020	Surface	OBSS	TDSS	Aquifer	Precipitation	Runoff	Seepage)	Evaporation	Inflow
		Volume?	Elevation	Area	(Acre-	(Acre-)	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-+	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-h
Year	Month	(Acre-ft)	篇章(ft)题题	(Acres)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	st/month)	ft/month)
	U 12	916	1 022	27	0 66 06	6 70	0.05	2.07	4 20	0	11.51	04.20
	24	1 767	4,922	48	61.62	6.75	9.95	4.00	4.30	4.03	15.00	90.66
3	36	2.638	4.956	57	57.61	6.74	9.95	4.82	4.30	4.03	18.05	87.45
4	48	3,438	4,969	66	53.99	6.71	9.95	5.53	4.30	4.03	20.72	84.51
5	60	4,174	4,979	73	50.72	6.68	9.95	6.15	4.30	4.03	23.06	81.83
6	72	4,853	4,989	80	47.78	6.66	9.95	6.70	4.30	4.03	25.13	79.42
$\frac{7}{2}$	84	5,481	4,997	86	45.13	6.63	9.95	7.19	4.30	4.03	26.96	77.23
	96	6,064	5,004	91	42.75	6.60	9.95	7.63	4.30	4.03	28.58	75.26
10	120	7 109	5,010	100	38.70	6.57	9.95	836	4.30	4.03	31 34	71.89
$-\frac{10}{11}$	132	7.581	5.020	100	36.98	6.52	9.95	8.68	4.30	4.03	32.51	70.46
12	144	8,022	5,025	107	35.45	6.49	9.95	8.96	4.30	4.03	33.58	69.18
13	156	8,437	5,029	110	34.08	6.47	9.95	9.22	4.30	4.03	34.56	68.05
14	168	8,828	5,032	113	32.86	6.44	9.95	9.46	4.30	4.03	35.45	67.04
15	180	9,197	5,036	116	31.77	6.41	9.95	9.68	4.30	4.03	36.28	66.14
$-\frac{16}{17}$	192	9,546	5,039	118	30.80	6.38	9.95	9.88	4.30	4.03	37.04	65.34
$-\frac{17}{18}$	204	9,070	5,042	120	29.94	633	9.95	10.07	4.30	4.03	38.41	64.05
19	228	10,494	5.047	124	28.52	6,30	9,95	10.23	4,30	4.03	39.03	63.51
20	240	10,782	5,049	126	27.94	6.28	9.95	10.57	4.30	0	39.62	59.04
21	252	11,010	5,051	128	27.44	6.25	9.95	10.69	4.30	0	40.07	58.63
-22	264	11,228	5,052	129	27.01	6.22	9.95	10.81	4.30	0	40.50	58.29
_23	276	11,429	5,054	130	25.60	6.19	9.95	10.91	4.30	0	40.90	56.95
$-\frac{24}{25}$	288	11,616	5,055	131	24.93	6.17	9.95	11.01	4.30	0	41.26	56.36
$\frac{25}{26}$	300	11,792	5,050	133	24.27	6.14	9.95	11.10	4.30	0	41.60	55./0
$\frac{20}{27}$	324	12 111	5.059	134	23.04	6.08	9.95	11.10	4.30	0	47.31	54.63
28	336	12,256	5,060	135	22.45	6.06	9.95	11.33	4.30	0	42.48	54.09
29	348	12,391	5,061	136	21.90	6.03	9.95	11.40	4.30	0	42.73	53.58
30	360	12,517	5,062	137	21.36	6.00	9.95	11.46	4.30	0	42.96	53.07
31	372	12,634	5,062	138	20.85	5.98	9.95	11.52	4.30	0	43.18	52.60
$\frac{32}{32}$	384	12,743	5,063	138	20.36	5.95	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.38	52.13
33	408	12,645	5,064	139	19.90	5.92	9.95	11.62	4.30	0	43.57	51.09
35	420	13 026	5,004	140	19.40	5.87	9.95	11.07	4.30	0	43.90	50.87
36	432	13,107	5,066	140	18.65	5.84	9.95	11.75	4.30	0	44.05	50.49
37	444	13,181	5,066	141	18.28	5.81	9.95	11.79	4.30	0	44.18	50.13
38	456	13,250	5,067	141	17.93	5.79	9.95	11.82	4.30	0	44.31	49.79
39	468	13,313	5,067	142	17.61	5.76	9.95	11.85	4.30	0	44.42	49.47
40	480	13,372	5,067	142	17.31	5.73	9.95	11.88	4.30	0	44.52	49.17
41	492	13,425	5,068	142	16.70	5.70	9.95	11.91	4.30	0	44.62	48.90
43	516	13,520	5.068	143	16.56	5.65	9.95	11.95	4.30	μ. υ Ω	44 79	48.41
44	528	13,562	5,069	143	16.35	5.62	9.95	11.97	4.30	Ő	44.87	48.19
45	540	13,601	5,069	143	16.17	5.60	9.95	11.99	4.30	0	44.93	48.01
46	552	13,636	5,069	143	16.02	5.57	9.95	12.01	4.30	0	45.00	47.85
47	564	13,669	5,069	144	15.89	5.54	9.95	12.02	4.30	0	45.06	47.70
48	5/6	13,700	5,070	144	15.78	5.51	9.95	12.04	4.30		45.11	47.58
50	600	13 746	5,070	144	15.22	5.49	9.90	12.00	4.30	0	45.10	47.01
51	612	13,767	5.070	144	15.13	5.43	9,95	12.07	4,30	ŏ	45.23	46.88
52	624	13,786	5,070	144	15.09	5.41	9.95	12.08	4.30	ō	45.27	46.83
53	636	13,804	5,070	144	15.04	5.38	9.95	12.09	4.30	0	45.30	46.76
54	648	13,821	5,070	144	15.00	5.35	9.95	12.09	4.30	0	45.33	46.69
55	660	13,837	5,070	144	14.96	5.32	9.95	12.10	4.30	0	45.36	46.63
50	624	13,852	5,0/1	145	14.91	5.30	9.95	12.11	4.30		45.38	46.57
58	696	13,000	5,071	145	14.07	5.27	9.95	12.12	4.30		45.41	40.51
59	708	13,890	5.071	145	14.78	5.24	9,95	12.12	4.30	0	45.45	46.38
60	720	13,901	5,071	145	14.74	5.19	9.95	12.13	4.30	Ő	45.47	46.31
61	732	13,911	5,071	145	14.69	5.16	9.95	12.14	4.30	0	45.49	46.24
62	744	13,919	5,071	145	14.65	5.13	9.95	12.14	4.30	0	45.50	46.17
63	756	13,927	5,071	145	14.61	5.11	9.95	12.14	4.30	0	45.51	46.11
64	780	13,934	5,0/1	145	14.56	5.08	9.95	12.15	4.30		45.53	46.04
66	792	13,939	5.071	145	14.52	5.05	9,95	12.15	4.30	0	45.54	45.97
								1				


FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

			an a	Surface	Inflow/ OBSS	Inflow TDSS	Perched Aquifer	Inflow Precipitation	Inflow Runoff	Tailings Seepage	Outflow Evaporation	<pre>//Total // Inflow //</pre>
	Month	Volume	Elevation	Area,	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-
67	804	13,948	5,071	145	14.43	5.00	9.95	12.15	4.30	0	45.55	45.83
68	816	13,951	5,071	145	14.39	4.97	9.95	12.16	4.30	0	45.56	45.77
69 70	828 840	13,953	<u>5,071</u> 5,071	145	14.34	4.94	9.95	12.16	4.30	0	45.56	45.69
71	852	13,955	5,071	145	14.25	4.89	9.95	12.16	4.30	0	45.56	45.55
72	864	13,954	5,071	145	14.21	4.86	9.95	12.16	4.30	0	45.56	45.48
73	876 888	13,953	5,071	145	14.17	4.84	9.95	12.16	4.30	0	45.56	45.42
75	900	13,948	5,071	145	14.08	4.78	9.95	12.15	4.30	0	45.55	45.26
76	912	13,944	5,071	145	14.03	4.75	9.95	12.15	4.30	0	45.54	45.18
77	924 936	13,939	5,071	145	13.99	4.73	9.95	12.15	4.30	0	45.54	45.12
79	948	13,928	5,071	145	13.90	4.67	9.95	12.13	4.30	0	45.52	44.96
80	960	13,921	5,071	145	13.86	4.65	9.95	12.14	4.30	0	45.50	44.90
81	972	13,913	5,071	145	13.82	4.62	9.95	12.14	4.30	0	45.49	44.83
83	996	13,896	5,071	145	13.73	4.59	9.95	12.13	4.30	0	45.46	44.74
84	1,008	13,886	5,071	145	13.68	4.54	9.95	12.12	4.30	0	45.44	44.59
85	1,020	13,876	5,071	145	13.64	4.51	9.95	12.12	4.30	0	45.42	44.52
80	1,032	13,853	5,071	145	13.60	4.48	9.95	12.11	4.30	0	45.38	44.44
88	1,056	13,841	5,070	145	13.51	4.48	9.95	12.10	4.30	Ő	45.36	44.34
89	1,068	13,828	5,070	144	13.46	4.48	9.95	12.10	4.30	0	45.34	44.29
90	1,080	13,816	5,070	144	13.42	4.48	9.95	12.09	4.30	0	45.32	44.24
92	1,104	13,789	5,070	144	13.33	4.48	9.95	12.09	4.30	0	45.29	44.20
93	1,116	13,775	5,070	144	13.29	4.48	9.95	12.07	4.30	0	45.25	44.09
94	1,128	13,761	5,070	144	13.24	4.48	9.95	12.07	4.30	0	45.22	44.04
95	1,140	13,747	5,070	144	13.20	4.48	9.95	12.06	4.30	0	45.20	43.99
97	1,164	13,718	5,070	144	13.11	4.48	9.95	12.04	4.30	0	45.14	43.88
98	1,176	13,702	5,070	144	13.07	4.48	9.95	12.04	4.30	0	45.12	43.84
99	1,188	13,687	5,069	144	13.03	4.48	9.95	12.03	4.30	0	45.09	43.79
101	1,212	13,655	5,069	143	12.99	4.48	9.95	12.02	4.30	0	45.03	43.74
102	1,224	13,640	5,069	143	12.99	4.48	9.95	12.01	4.30	0	45.01	43.73
103	1,236	13,625	5,069	143	12.99	4.48	9.95	12.00	4.30	0	44.98	43.72
104	1,240	13,595	5,069	143	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.99	4.30	0	44.93	43.71
106	1,272	13,581	5,069	143	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.98	4.30	0	44.90	43.70
107	1,284	13,566	5,069	143	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.97	4.30	0	44.87	43.69
100	1,290	13,552	5,069	143	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.97	4.30	0	44.85	43.69
110	1,320	13,525	5,068	143	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.95	4.30	0	44.80	43.67
111	1,332	13,512	5,068	143	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.95	4.30	0	44.78	43.67
112	1,344	13,498	5,068	143	12.99	4.48 4.48	9.95	11.94 11 Q3	4.30	0	44.75	43.66
114	1,368	13,473	5,068	142	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.93	4.30	0	44.71	43.65
115	1,380	13,460	5,068	142	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.92	4.30	0	44.68	43.64
116	1,392	13,448	5,068	142	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.92	4.30	0	44.66	43.64
118	1,416	13,423	5,068	142	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.90	4.30	0	44.62	43.63
119	1,428	13,412	5,068	142	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.90	4.30	0	44.60	43.62
120	1,440	13,400	5,068	142	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.89	4.30	0	44.58	43.61
121	1,452	13,389	5,067	142	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.89	4.30	0	44.55	43.61
123	1,476	13,366	5,067	142	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.88	4.30	0	44.51	43.60
124	1,488	13,355	5,067	142	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.87	4.30	0	44.49	43.59
125	1,500	13,345	5,067	142	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.87	4.30	U0	44.48	43.59 43.59
127	1,524	13,324	5,067	142	12.99	4.48	<u>9.95</u>	11.86	4.30	0	44.44	43.58
128	1,536	13,313	5,067	142	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.85	4.30	0	44.42	43.57
129	1,548	13,303	5,067	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.85	4.30	0	44.40	43.57
130	1,572	13,284	5,067	141	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.84	4.30	0	44.30	43.56
132	1,584	13,274	5,067	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.83	4.30	0	44.35	43.55
133	1,596	13,265	5,067	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.83	4.30	0	44.33	43.55



FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

STA .		2.2228	2. 104.20	W. Cal	2 Inflow	Inflow.	Perched	Inflow 😥	() Inflow	Tailings	Outflow	Total
		1200	81. S. S.	Surface	OBSS	TDSS	Aquifer	Precipitation	Runoff	Seepage	Evaporation	Inflow.
的新潮		Volume	Elevation	Area	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-)	Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-
Tear	1 609	(ACTE-Π)	私総(爪) 参照	(Acres)	12.00	ft/month)		saft/month)@8	aft/month)	(itt/month):	[st/month]	ft/month)
134	1,608	13,200	5,067	141	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.02	4.30		44.31	43.54
136	1,632	13,237	5,066	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.81	4.30	0	44.28	43.53
137	1,644	13,228	5,066	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.81	4.30	0	44.27	43.53
138	1,656	13,219	5,066	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.81	4.30	0	44.25	43.53
139	1,668	13,211	5,066	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.80	4.30	0	44.23	43.52
140	1,000	13,202	5,066	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.80	4.30	0	44.22	43.52
142	1,704	13,186	5,066	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.79	4.30	0	44.19	43.51
143	1,716	13,178	5,066	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.79	4.30	. 0	44.17	43.51
144	1,728	13,170	5,066	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.78	4.30	0	44.16	43.50
145	1,740	13,162	5,066	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.78	4.30	0	44.15	43.50
146	1,752	13,154	5,066	141	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.78	4.30	0	44.13	43.50
148	1,776	13,139	5.066	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.77	4.30	0	44.10	43.49
149	1,788	13,132	5,066	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.76	4.30	0	44.09	43.48
150	1,800	13,125	5,066	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.76	4.30	0	44.08	43.48
151	1,812	13,118	5,066	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.76	4.30	0	44.07	43.48
152	1,824	13,111	5,066	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.75	4.30	0	44.05	43.47
154	1.848	13,104	5,066	140	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.75	4.30	0	44.04	43.47
155	1,860	13,090	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.74	4.30	Ő	44.02	43.46
156	1,872	13,084	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.74	4.30	0	44.00	43.46
157	1,884	13,077	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.74	4.30	0	43.99	43.46
158	1,896	13,071	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.73	4.30	0	43.98	43.45
159	1,908	13,005	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.73	4.30	0	43.97	43.45
160	1,932	13,053	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.73	4.30	0	43.95	43.45
162	1,944	13,047	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.72	4.30	0	43.94	43.44
163	1,956	13,041	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.72	4.30	0	43.93	43.44
164	1,968	13,035	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.72	4.30	0	43.92	43.44
165	1,980	13,029	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.71	4.30	0	43.91	43.43
167	2.004	13.018	5.065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.71	4.30	0	43.89	43.43
168	2,016	13,013	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.71	4.30	0	43.87	43.43
169	2,028	13,008	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.70	4.30	0	43.87	43.42
170	2,040	13,002	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.70	4.30	0	43.86	43.42
1/1	2,052	12,997	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.70	4.30	0	43.85	43.42
173	2,004	12,992	5,065	140	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.70	4.30	0	43.84	43.42
174	2,088	12,982	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.69	4.30	0	43.82	43.41
175	2,100	12,977	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.69	4.30	0	43.81	43.41
176	2,112	12,973	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.69	4.30	0	43.80	43.41
177	2,124	12,968	5,065	140	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.68	4.30	0	43.79	43.40
179	2,130	12,903	5,065	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.68	4.30	0	43.78 43.78	43.40
180	2,160	12,954	5,065	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.68	4.30	0	43.77	43.40
181	2,172	12,950	5,065	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.68	4.30	0	43.76	43.40
182	2,184	12,946	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.67	4.30	0	43.75	43.39
183	2,196	12,941	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.67	4.30	0	43.74	43.39
184	2,208	12,937	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.67	4.30	U 0	43./4	43.39
186	2,232	12,929	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.67	4.30	0	43,72	43.39
187	2,244	12,925	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.66	4.30	0	43.71	43.38
188	2,256	12,921	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.66	4.30	0	43.71	43.38
189	2,268	12,917	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.66	4.30	0	43.70	43.38
190	2,280	12,913	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.66	4.30	0	43.69	43.38
192	2.304	12,906	5.064	139	12.99	4.40	9,95	11.65	4.30	0	43.68	43.38
193	2,316	12,902	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.65	4.30	Ő	43.67	43.37
194	2,328	12,899	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.65	4.30	0	43.67	43.37
195	2,340	12,895	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.65	4.30	0	43.66	43.37
196	2,352	12,892	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.65	4.30	0	43.65	43.37
198	2.376	12,885	5.064	139	12.99	4.40	9,95	11.63	4.30	0	43.05	43.37
199	2,388	12,882	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.64	4.30	0	43.64	43.36
200	2,400	12.879	5.064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.64	4.30	0	43.63	43.36



1

.

FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

			ann an sea	2014	, Inflow,		Perched	Inflow	Inflow	Taillings.	Outflow	Total
		Volume	Elevation	Area	(Acres	(Acre-	Aquilei (Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	Evaporation (Acre-	(Acre-
Year	Month	(Acre-ft)	5 004	(Acres)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	(ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)
201	2,412	12,875	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.64	4.30	0	43.62	43.36
203	2,436	12,869	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.64	4.30	0	43.61	43.36
204	2,448	12,866	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.64	4.30	0	43.61	43.36
205	2,460	12,863	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.63	4.30	0	43.60	43.35
207	2,484	12,857	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.63	4.30	Ő	43.59	43.35
208	2,496	12,855	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.63	4.30	0	43.59	43.35
209	2,508	12,852	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.63	4.30	0	43.58	43.35
211	2,532	12,846	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.63	4.30	0	43.57	43.35
212	2,544	12,844	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.62	4.30	0	43.57	43.34
213	2,556	12,838	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.62	4.30	0	43.56	43.34
215	2,580	12,836	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.62	4.30	0	43.55	43.34
216	2,592	12,833	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.62	4.30	0	43.55	43.34
217	2,616	12,831	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.62	4.30	0	43.54	43.34
219	2,628	12,826	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.62	4.30	0	43.53	43.34
220	2,640	12,824	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.61	4.30	0	43.53	43.33
222	2,664	12,819	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.61	4.30	0	43.53	43.33
223	2,676	12,817	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.61	4.30	0	43.52	43.33
224	2,688	12,815	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.61	4.30	0	43.51	43.33
226	2,712	12,813	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.61	4.30	0	43.51	43.33
227	2,724	12,808	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.61	4.30	0	43.50	43.33
228	2,736	12,806	5,064	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.61	4.30	0	43.50	43.33
230	2,760	12,804	5,063	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.60	4.30	0	43.49	43.32
231	2,772	12,800	5,063	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.60	4.30	0	43.49	43.32
232	2,784	12,798	5,063	139	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.60	4.30	0	43.48	43.32
234	2,808	12,795	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.60	4.30	0	43.48	43.32
235	2,820	12,793	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.60	4.30	0	43.47	43.32
236	2,832	12,791	5,063	138 138	12.99 12.99	4.48	9.95	<u>11.60</u> 11.60	4.30	0	43.47	43.32
238	2,856	12,788	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.60	4.30	0	43.46	43.32
239	2,868	12,786	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.60	4.30	0	43.46	43.32
240	2,880	12,784	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.59	4.30	0	43.46	43.31
242	2,904	12,781	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.59	4.30	0	43.45	43.31
243	2,916	12,779	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.59	4.30	0	43.45	43.31
244	2,928	12,776	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.59	4.30	0	43.44	43.31
246	2,952	12,774	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.59	4.30	0	43.44	43.31
247	2,964	12,773	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.59	4.30	0	43.44	43.31
240	2,970	12,770	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.59	4.30	0	43.43	43.31
250	3,000	12,769	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.59	4.30	0	43.43	43.31
251	3,012	12,767	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.59	4.30	0	43.43	43.31
252	3,024	12,766	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.59	4.30	0	43.42	43.31
254	3,048	12,763	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.42	43.30
255	3,060	12,762	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.42	43.30
257	3,084	12,759	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.41	43.30
258	3,096	12,758	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.41	43.30
259	3,108	12,757	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.41	43.30
261	3,132	12,754	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.40	43.30
262	3,144	12,753	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.40	43.30
263	3,156	12,752	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.40	43.30
265	3,180	12,749	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.39	43.30
266	3,192	12,748	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.39	43.30
267	3,204	12,747	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.39	43.30



FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

			19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-1	are se	/inflow/	Inflow	Perched	Inflow.	Inflow	Tailings	Outflow	Total
200		Volume	Elevation	Area	(Acre-	(Acre-	Aquirer (Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	Acre-	Evaporation (Acre-	(Acre-
Year	Month	(Acre-ft)	5 000	(Acres)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)
268	3,216	12,746	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.39	43.30
270	3,240	12,744	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.58	4.30	0	43.38	43.30
271	3,252	12,743	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.38	43.29
272	3,264	12,742	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.38	43.29
274	3,288	12,740	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.38	43.29
275	3,300	12,739	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.37	43.29
276	3,312	12,738	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.37	43.29
278	3,336	12,736	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.37	43.29
279	3,348	12,735	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.37	43.29
280	3,360	12,735	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.37	43.29
282	3,384	12,733	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.36	43.29
283	3,396	12,732	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.36	43.29
284	3,408	12,731	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.36	43.29
285	3,432	12,729	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.36	43.29
287	3,444	12,729	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.35	43.29
288	3,456	12,728	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.35	43.29
289	3,468	12,727	5,063	138	12.99	4.48 4.48	9.95	11.57 11.57	4.30	0	43.35	43.29
291	3,492	12,726	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	Ő	43.35	43.29
292	3,504	12,725	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.35	43.29
293	3,516	12,724	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.57	4.30	0	43.35	43.29
294	3,540	12,723	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.35	43.29
296	3,552	12,722	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.34	43.28
297	3,564	12,721	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.34	43.28
290	3,570	12,721	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.34	43.28
300	3,600	12,719	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0 0	43.34	43.28
301	3,612	12,719	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.34	43.28
302	3,624	12,718	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.34	43.28
304	3,648	12,717	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.33	43.28
305	3,660	12,716	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.33	43.28
306	3,672	12,716	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.33	43.28
307	3,696	12,715	5,063	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.33	43.28
309	3,708	12,714	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.33	43.28
310	3,720	12,714	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.33	43.28
311	3,732	12,713	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.33	43.28
313	3,756	12,712	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.32	43.28
314	3,768	12,711	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.32	43.28
315	3,780	12,711	5,063	138	12.99	4.48 4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.32	43.28
317	3,804	12,710	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.32	43.28
318	3,816	12,710	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.32	43.28
319	3,828	12,709	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.32	43.28
320	3,852	12,709	5,063	130	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.50	4.30	0	43.32	43.28
322	3,864	12,708	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.32	43.28
323	3,876	12,707	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.32	43.28
324	3,888	12,707	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.31 43.31	43.28 43.29
326	3,912	12,706	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.31	43.28
327	3,924	12,706	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.31	43.28
328	3,936	12,705	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.31	43.28
329	3,940	12,705	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9,95	11,56	4.30	0	43.31	43.28
331	3,972	12,704	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.31	43.28
332	3,984	12,704	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.56	4.30	0	43.31	43.28
334	4 008	12,703	5,063	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.50	4.30	0	43.31	43.28



FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

			git niges		/Inflow)	Inflow-	Perched	inflow	Inflow/2	Tailings	Outflow	Total
		Volume	Elevation	Area	OBSS (Acre-	(Acre-	Aquifer	Precipitation	Runoff	(Acre-	Evaporation (Acre-	Acre-
Year	Month	(Acre-ft)	(ft)	(Acres)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)
335	4,020	12,702	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.31	43.27
336	4,032	12,702	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.31	43.27
338	4,056	12,701	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	Ő	43.30	43.27
339	4,068	12,701	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
340	4,080	12,701	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
342	4,104	12,700	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
343	4,116	12,700	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
344	4,128	12,699	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
346	4,152	12,699	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
347	4,164	12,699	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
348	4,176	12,698	5,063	<u>138</u> 138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
350	4,200	12,698	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
351	4,212	12,697	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
352	4,224	12,697	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
354	4,248	12,697	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
355	4,260	12,696	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.30	43.27
356	4,272	12,696	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
357	4,284	12,696	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27 43.27
359	4,308	12,695	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
360	4,320	12,695	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
361	4,332	12,695	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
363	4,344	12,695	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
364	4,368	12,694	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
365	4,380	12,694	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
366	4,392	12,694	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
368	4,416	12,693	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
369	4,428	12,693	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
370	4,440	12,693	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
371	4,452	12,693	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
373	4,476	12,692	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
374	4,488	12,692	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
375	4,500	12,692	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
377	4,524	12,691	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
378	4,536	12,691	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
379	4,548	12,691	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
381	4,572	12,691	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.29	43.27
382	4,584	12,691	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
383	4,596	12,690	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
384	4,608	12,690	5,063	138	12.99	4.48 4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
386	4,632	12,690	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
387	4,644	12,690	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
388	4,656	12,690	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
390	4,008	12,689	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
391	4,692	12,689	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
392	4,704	12,689	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
393	4,716	12,689	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
395	4,740	12,689	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
396	4,752	12,688	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
397	4,764	12,688	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30		43.28	43.27
399	4,788	12,000	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
400	4,800	12,688	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
401	4 812	12,688	5.063	138	12 99	4.48	9.95	11 55	4 30	0	43.28	43.27



FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

ang sy	1971.). 13. juni - 1	an per an ar	1. 10 . 5 . 1		Inflow	Inflow	Perched	Inflow	Inflow	Tailings	Outflow	Total
		Volume	Elevation	Area	(Acre-	(Acre-	Aquiter	Precipitation	Acre-	Seepage (Acre-	Evaporation (Acre-	Acre-
Year	Month	(Acre-ft)	(ft)	(Acres)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)
402	4,824	12,688	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
403	4,836	12,688	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
404	4,840	12,687	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
406	4,872	12,687	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
407	4,884	12,687	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
408	4,896	12,687	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
409	4,900	12,687	5,003	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
411	4,932	12,687	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
412	4,944	12,687	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
413	4,956	12,686	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
415	4,980	12,686	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0 0	43.28	43.27
416	4,992	12,686	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
417	5,004	12,686	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
410	5.018	12,080	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
420	5,040	12,686	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
421	5,052	12,686	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
422	5,064	12,686	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
423	5.088	12,685	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.28	43.27
425	5,100	12,685	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
426	5,112	12,685	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
427	5,124	12,685	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
420	5,130	12,685	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
430	5,160	12,685	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
431	5,172	12,685	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
432	5,184	12,685	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
434	5,190	12,685	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
435	5,220	12,685	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
436	5,232	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
437	5,244	12,684	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
439	5,268	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
440	5,280	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
441	5,292	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
442	5,304	12,684	5.063	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
444	5,328	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
445	5,340	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
446	5,352	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
447	5,364	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
449	5,388	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
450	5,400	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
451	5,412	12,684	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
453	5,436	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
454	5,448	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
455	5,460	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
456	5,472	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
458	5,496	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
459	5,508	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
460	5,520	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
461	5,532	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
463	5,556	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	Õ	43.27	43.27
464	5,568	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
465	5,580	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
466	5,592	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48 4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
468	5.616	12,683	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27

Page 7 of 16



1

FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

	的教教		A 194294-03-34	M. A. Car	Inflow/	& Inflow.	Perched	202 Inflow	Inflow	Tailings	Outflow	Total
	Report	1.1.1.1		Surface	OBSS	TDSS	Aquifer	Precipitation	Runoff	Seepage	Evaporation	Ainflow
		Volume	Elevation	Area	(Acre-)	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-x	🤇 (Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-
Year	Month	(Acre-ft)	减少(ft)滞空	(Acres)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	wift/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	∭ft/month)	ft/month)
469	5,628	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
470	5,640	12,003	5,063	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.55	4.30		43.27	43.27
472	5.664	12,683	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.55	4.30	0	43.27	43.27
473	5,676	12,683	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
474	5,688	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
475	5,700	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
476	5,712	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
477	5,724	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
470	5,730	12,002	5,063	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
480	5,760	12,682	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
481	5,772	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
482	5,784	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
483	5,796	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
484	5,808	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
485	5,820	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30		43.27	43.26
487	5.844	12,002	5.063	138	12.99	4.40	9,95	11.54	4.30		43.27	43.26
488	5,856	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	ŏ	43.27	43.26
489	5,868	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
490	5,880	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
491	5,892	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
492	5,904	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
493	5,916	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
495	5,920	12,002	5.063	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
496	5,952	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
497	5,964	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
498	5,976	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
499	5,988	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
500	6,000	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
502	6.012	12,002	5,063	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
502	6.036	12,682	5,000	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
504	6,048	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
505	6,060	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
506	6,072	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
507	6,084	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
508	6 108	12,682	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
510	6 120	12,001	5,003	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
511	6,132	12,681	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	· 0	43.27	43.26
512	6,144	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
513	6,156	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
514	6,168	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
515	6,180	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
510	6 204	12,001	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
518	6,216	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
519	6,228	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
520	6,240	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
521	6,252	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
522	6,264	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
523	6 288	12,681	5,003	138	12.99	4.48 4 / R	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
525	6,300	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
526	6,312	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0 0	43.27	43.26
527	6,324	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
528	6,336	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
529	6,348	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
530	6,360	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
537	6 384	12,001	5,063	138	12.99	4.48 4 / R	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
533	6,396	12,681	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
534	6,408	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
535	6,420	12.681	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26



FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

and the	影響會	12.2.2.2	a. 19 (9 (9 (9 ()	86.DA	/inflow/	, Inflow	Perched	Inflow	Inflow	Tallings	Outflow/	🖉 Total 🖉
				Surface	OBSS	TDSS	Aquifer	Precipitation	Runoff	Seepage	Evaporation	. Inflow -
Year	Month	(Acre-ft)	(ff)	(Acres)	ft/month)	(Acre- ff/month)	ft/month)	(Acre- ft/month)	ft/month)	(Acre-) (ff/month)	ft/month)	(Acre-
536	6,432	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
537	6,444	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
538	6,456	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
539	6,468	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
541	6,492	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
542	6,504	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
543	6,516	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
544	6,528	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
546	6,552	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	ů 0	43.27	43.26
547	6,564	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
548	6,576	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
549	6,566	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
551	6,612	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
552	6,624	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
553	6,636	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
555	0,048	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54 11.54	4.30	0 0	43.27	43.26
556	6,672	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
557	6,684	12,681	5,063	_ 138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
558	6,696	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
559	6,708	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
561	6,732	12,681	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
562	6,744	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
563	6,756	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
564	6,768	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
565	6,780	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
567	6,804	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
568	6,816	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
569	6,828	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
570	6,840	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
572	6,864	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
573	6,876	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
574	6,888	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
576	6,900	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
577	6.924	12,681	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
578	6,936	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
579	6,948	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
580	6,960	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
582	6,984	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
583	6,996	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
584	7,008	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
585	7,020	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
587	7.044	12,681	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
588	7,056	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0 0	43.27	43.26
<u>58</u> 9	7,068	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
590	7,080	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
597	7,1092	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
593	7,116	12,681	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
594	7,128	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
595	7,140	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
590	7,152	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
598	7,176	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
599	7,188	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
600	7,200	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
602	7,212	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26



.

FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

				Surface	 Inflow OBSS 	Inflow	Perched Aquifer	Inflow Precipitation	Inflow Runoff	Tailings Seepage	Outflow Evaporation	Total Inflow
	200 A	Volume	Elevation	Area	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre- 🕬	(Acre-
§ Year a 603	7.236	(Acre-π) 12.680	5.063	138	12.99	tr/month)	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	13.26
604	7,248	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
605	7,260	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	,43.27	43.26
607	7,284	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
608	7,296	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
609	7,308	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
611	7,332	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
612	7,344	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
613	7,356	12,680	5,063	138	12.99 12.99	4.48	9.95	<u> </u>	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
615	7,380	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
616	7,392	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
617	7,404	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
619	7,428	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
620	7,440	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
621	7,452	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
623	7,476	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	-0	43.27	43.26
624	7,488	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
625	7,500	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
627	7,524	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
628	7,536	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
629	7,548	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54 11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
631	7,572	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
632	7,584	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
633	7,596	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
635	7,620	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
636	7,632	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
637	7,644	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
639	7,668	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
640	7,680	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
642	7,704	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
643	7,716	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
644	7,728	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
646	7,752	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
647	7,764	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
648	7,776	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
650	7,800	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
651	7,812	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
652	7,824	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48 4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
654	7,848	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
655	7,860	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
656	7 884	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
658	7,896	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
659	7,908	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
660	7,920	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
662	7,944	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0 0	43.27	43.26
663	7,956	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
664	7,968	12,680	5,063	138 138	12.99 12.99	4.48	9.95	<u>11.54</u> 11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
666	7,992	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
667	8,004	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
669	8,016	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26



FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

	19. AN 19. AN		1. 19 30 2	200.929	/Inflow/	Inflow	Perched	Inflow	linflow -	Tailings	Outflow	Total
	Call Sec.	S. March	2. 16. 28	Surface	OBSS	TDSS	Aquifer	Precipitation	Runoff	Seepage	Evaporation	Inflow
a de	e de la compañía de l	Volume	Elevation	Area .	(Acre-	(Acre-	Acre-	Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-
Year	Month	(Acre-ft)	(ft)	(Acres)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)
670	8,040	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
671	8,052	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
672	8,064	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
673	8,076	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
674	8,088	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
675	8,100	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
676	8,112	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
677	8,124	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
678	8,136	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
679	8,148	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
680	8,160	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
600	0,1/2	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
682	8,184	12,080	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
694	0,190	12,000	5,003	130	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.04	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
685	8 220	12,000	5,003	130	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
686	8 232	12,000	5,003	138	12.00	4.40	9.95	11.54	4 30	0	43.27	43.20
687	8,244	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9,95	11 54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
688	8.256	12.680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43 26
689	8,268	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43,27	43.26
690	8,280	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
691	8,292	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
692	8,304	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
693	8,316	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
694	8,328	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
695	8,340	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
696	8,352	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
697	8,364	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
698	8,376	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	.4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
699	8,388	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
700	8,400	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
701	8,412	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
702	8,424	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
703	8,436	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
704	0,440	12,000	5,063	130	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
705	8 472	12,000	5,003	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
700	8 4 8 4	12,000	5,003	138	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
708	8 4 9 6	12,000	5,003	138	12.33	4 48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
709	8,508	12,000	5,003	138	12.00	4 48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
710	8,520	12,680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4 30	0	43.27	43.26
711	8.532	12,680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
712	8,544	12,680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
713	8,556	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
714	8,568	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
715	8,580	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
716	8,592	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
717	8,604	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
718	8,616	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
719	8,628	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
720	8,640	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
721	8,652	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
722	8,664	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
723	8,676	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
724	8,688	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
725	8,700	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	<u> </u>	43.27	43.26
727	9,712	12,000	5,003	130	12.99	4.40	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
720	9,724	12,000	5,003	130	12.99	4.40	9.90	11.04	4.30	<u> </u>	43.27	43.20
720	0,730	12,000	5,063	138	12.99	4.40	9.90	11.54	4.30		43.27	43.26
730	8 760	12,000	5,003	138	12.99	4.40	9.55	11.54	4.30	0	43.21	43.20
731	8,772	12,000	5 063	138	12.99	4 48	9.95	11 54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
732	8,784	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.54	4.30		43.27	43.20
733	8,796	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4,30	- č- l	43.27	43.26
734	8,808	12.680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43 26
735	8,820	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
736	8.832	12.680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26



FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

				Surface			Perched,	Inflow Precipitation	Inflow Runoff	Tailings	Outflow	Total
		Volume	Elevation	Area	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-
Year	Month	(Acre-ft)	5 062	(Acres)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)
738	8,856	12,680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
739	8,868	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
740	8,880	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
741	8,892	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
743	8,916	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
744	8,928	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
745	8,940	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
747	8,964	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
748	8,976	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
749	8,988	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
751	9,012	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
752	9,024	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
753	9,036	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30		43.27	43.26
755	9,060	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
756	9,072	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
757	9,084	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
758	9,096	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
760	9,120	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
761	9,132	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
762	9,144	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
764	9,168	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
765	9,180	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
766	9,192	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
767	9,204	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
769	9,228	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0 0	43.27	43.26
770	9,240	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
771	9,252	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
773	9,276	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
774	9,288	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
775	9,300	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
777	9,312	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
778	9,336	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
779	9,348	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
780	9,360	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
782	9,384	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
783	9,396	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
784	9,408	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
786	9,432	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
787	9,444	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
788	9,456	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
789	9,400	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
791	9,492	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
792	9,504	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
793	9,516	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
795	9,540	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
796	9,552	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
797	9,564	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
798	9,576	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
800	9,600	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	ŏ	43.27	43.26
801	9,612	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
802	9,624	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26



•

FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

	ar an			Surface	Inflow/	Inflow	Perched	Inflow	Inflow.	Tailings	Outflow	Total -
		Volume	Elevation	Area	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	A (Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-/
Year	Month	(Acre-ft)	(ft)	(Acres)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)
804	9,648	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
806	9,672	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
807	9,684	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
808	9,696	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
810	9,720	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
811	9,732	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
812	9,744	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
814	9,768	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
815	9,780	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
816	9,792	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
818	9,816	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0 0	43.27	43.26
819	9,828	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
820	9,840	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
822	9,864	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
823	9,876	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
824	9,888	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
826	9,900	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
827	9,924	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
828	9,936	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
829	9,948	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
831	9,972	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
832	9,984	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
833	9,996	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
835	10,008	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
836	10,032	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
837	10,044	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
838	10,056	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
840	10,080	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
841	10,092	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
842	10,104	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
844	10,118	12,680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
845	10,140	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
846	10,152	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
847	10,164	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
849	10,188	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
850	10,200	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
851	10,212	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48 4.49	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
853	10,224	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
854	10,248	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
855	10,260	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
857	10,272	12,680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
858	10,296	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
859	10,308	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
860	10,320	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48 4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
862	10,344	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
863	10,356	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
864	10,368	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
866	10,392	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
867	10,404	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
868	10,416	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
870	10,428	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26



FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

				Surface	Inflow OBSS	linflow TDSS	Perched Aquifer	/ Inflow Precipitation	kinflow Runoff	Tailings Seepage	Outflow Evaporation	Total Inflow
	Month	Volume	Elevation	Area	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-
871	10,452	12,680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	ervinoninj. O	43.27	43.26
872	10,464	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
873	10,476	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
875	10,500	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
876	10,512	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
877	10,524	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
879	10,548	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
880	10,560	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
882	10,584	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
883	10,596	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
884	10,608	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
886	10,632	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
887	10,644	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
889	10,668	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
890	10,680	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
891	10,692	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
893	10,716	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
894	10,728	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
895	10,740	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	<u>11.54</u>	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
897	10,764	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
898	10,776	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
900	10,788	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
901	10,812	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
902	10,824	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
903	10,848	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
905	10,860	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
906	10,872	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
908	10,896	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
909	10,908	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
<u>910</u> 911	10,920	12,680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
912	10,944	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
913	10,956	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
915	10,980	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
916	10,992	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
917 918	11,004	12,680	5,063	138 138	12.99	4.48 4.48	9.95	11.54 11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
919	11,028	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
920	11,040	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
921	11,052	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26 43.26
923	11,076	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
924	11,088	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
926	11,112	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
927	11,124	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
928 929	11,136	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
930	11,160	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
931	11,172	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
932 933	11,184	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54 11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26 43.26
934	11,208	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
935	11,220	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
930	11 244	12,000	5.063	130	12.99	4.40	9,95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20

•



,

FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

		Soly Alto Maria		Surface	Inflow OBSS	Inflow.	Perched Aquifer	2.2 Inflow Precipitation	Inflow Runoff	Tailings	Outflow Evaporation	
		Volume	Elevation	Area	(Acre-	(Acre-)	(Асге-	Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-	(Acre-
Year/	Month 11.256	(Acre-ft)	5 063	(Acres)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	11.54	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)	ft/month)
939	11,268	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.20
940	11,280	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
941	11,292	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
943	11,316	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
944	11,328	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
945	11,340	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
947	11.364	12,680	5.063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
948	11,376	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
949	11,388	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
950	11.412	12,660	5,063	130	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
952	11,424	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
953	11,436	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
954	11,448	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
956	11,472	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	Ő	43.27	43.26
957	11,484	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
958	11,496	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30		43.27	43.26
960	11,520	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
961	11,532	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
962	11,544	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
964	11,558	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
965	11,580	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
966	11,592	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
967	11,604	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
969	11,628	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
970	11,640	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
971	11,652	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
973	11,676	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
974	11,688	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
975	11,700	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
977	11,724	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
978	11,736	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
979	11,748	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54 11 54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
981	11,772	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
982	11,784	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
983 984	11,796	12,680	5,063	138 138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
985	11,820	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
986	11,832	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
987	11,844	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
989	11,868	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
990	11,880	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
991	11,892	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
992	11,904	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9,95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
994	11,928	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
995	11,940	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
996 997	11,952	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
998	11,976	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
999	11,988	12,680	5,063	138	12.99	4.48	9.95	11.54	4.30	0	43.27	43.26
 1.000 	E I Z UUUU	⊨ 12 680 I	51063	1.38								

Notes: Notes: ft - feet OBSS - Ore Body Sandstone TDSS - Tailings Dam Sandstone



FINAL LONG TERM GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF THE HIGHLAND PIT LAKE EXXONMOBIL CORPORATION- CONVERSE COUNTY, WYOMING

Year Month (Acre-ft) (ft) (Acres)	Inflow, OBSS TDSS Aquifer Precipitation (Acre- (Acre- (Acre- f/month) ft/month) ft/month) ft/month)	Inflow, Tailings Outflow Total, Runoff Seepage Evaporation Inflow (Acre- (Acre- (Acre- ft/month) ft/month) ft/month) tt/month)				
* This table is from the Final Draft Long-Term Geochemical Evolution of the Highland Reservoir, Converse County, Wyoming by MFG, Inc.						

dated February 2006.

APPENDIX C MEASURED WATER QUALITY: HIGHLAND PIT LAKE AND GROUNDWATER MONITORING WELLS (CD)

L

1